## From Center for Infectious Medicine, Department of Medicine Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

#### STUDIES OF EFFECTOR FUNCTIONS IN *MYCOBACTERIUM TUBERCULOSIS*-INFECTED MACROPHAGES WITH IMPLICATIONS FOR HOST-DIRECTED THERAPIES

SSV Jagadeeswara Rao Muvva



Stockholm 2019

**Cover Photo**: LC3 puncta aggregates in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infected macrophages treated with PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> and isoniazid.

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by E-Print AB 2019, Stockholm © SSV Jagadeeswara Rao Muvva, 2019 ISBN 978-91-7831-346 -4 Studies of effector functions in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-infected macrophages with implications for host-directed therapies

## THESIS FOR DOCTORAL DEGREE (Ph.D.)

By

## SSV Jagadeeswara Rao Muvva

Principal Supervisor: Associate professor Susanna Brighenti Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine, Huddinge Centre for Infectious Medicine

*Co-supervisor(s):* Associate professor Mattias Svensson Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine, Huddinge Centre for Infectious Medicine (CIM)

Professor Maria Lerm Linköping University Department of Microbiology and Molecular Medicine

Assistant professor Senait Ashenafi Betemariam Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine, Huddinge Centre for Infectious Medicine (CIM) *Opponent:* PD Dr Norbert Reiling Research Center Borstel, Germany Leibniz Lung Center Division of Microbial Interface Biology

*Examination Board:* Associate professor Katrin Putsep Karolinska Institutet Department of Physiology and Pharmacology (FyFa)

Associate professor Antonio Gigliotti Rothfuchs Karolinska institutet Department of Microbiology, Tumor and Cell Biology (MTC)

Associate professor Fredric Carlsson Lund University Department of Biology

This thesis is dedicated to the field of Medicine

## ABSTRACT

Tuberculosis infection remains a global health problem and the emergence of multidrugresistant TB (MDR-TB) adds further challenges in the battle to stop the spread of infection. Macrophages are the primary host cells to be infected with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Mtb), and are therefore key cells in the initial control of TB infection. However, to survive and persist in activated macrophages, Mtb has developed strategies to counteract antimicrobial immunity. This thesis work aimed to explore macrophage responses in Mtbinfected cells, the nature of innate effector mechanisms and how these can be enhanced. For this purpose, we used an *in vitro* macrophage infection model as well as an organotypic lung tissue model system.

The thesis work is based on four papers, Study I and III, involved studies on the effects of the immunomodulatory compounds, vitamin  $D_3$  (VitD<sub>3</sub>) and phenylbutyrate (PBA), on the induction of antimicrobial peptides, primarily human cathelicidin LL-37, and the ability to kill intracellular Mtb. In Study I, we observed that Mtb can down-regulate the expression of LL-37 in infected macrophages, but this effect was effectively counteracted by treatment with VitD<sub>3</sub> and/or PBA. PBA and/or VitD<sub>3</sub> prevented intracellular Mtb growth via induction of LL-37 as well as activation of autophagy in Mtb-infected macrophages. In Study III, we further demonstrated that PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> enhanced intracellular Mtb killing of both MDR-TB and drug-susceptible strains and this effect was dependent on LL-37.

In Study IV, we explored the role of VitD<sub>3</sub> in polarization of macrophages in comparison to activation with conventional stimuli such as GM-CSF (polarization of inflammatory M1 macrophages) or MCSF (polarization of anti-inflammatory M2 macrophages). The findings from Study IV, suggested that polarization with VitD<sub>3</sub> enhanced the ability of Mtb-infected macrophages to control intracellular Mtb growth in comparison to M1 and M2 subsets. Enhanced Mtb growth control was associated with elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and LL-37, but reduced Mtb-induced expression of the immunosuppressive enzyme IDO (indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase).

Study II, aimed to investigate the expression and function of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) in early TB granuloma formation using the organotypic lung tissue model that enabled studies on macrophage-Mtb interactions in a more physiological environment in tissue. In this study, we found that pre-treatment of macrophages with the global MMP inhibitor, marimastat, resulted in effective inhibition of TB granuloma formation, which was associated with reduced Mtb growth detected in the lung tissue model. Thus, reduced degradation of extracellular matrix proteins, could prevent Mtb multiplication and spread of the infection.

The main conclusion from this thesis work is that immunomodulatory compounds with the ability to boost or block innate effector mechanisms in Mtb-infected macrophages may be used as adjunct host-directed therapies that could support standard anti-TB drugs to enhance clinical recovery from TB.

## LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS

- I. Rokeya Sultana Rekha, **SSV Jagadeeswara Rao Muvva**, Min Wan, Rubhana Raqib, Peter Bergman, Susanna Brighenti, Gudmuundur H Gudmundsson and Birgitta Agerberth. Phenylbutyrate induces LL-37dependent autophagy and intracellular killing of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in human macrophages. *Autophagy*. 2015 Sep; 11(9): 1688– 1699.
- II. Venkata R.Parasa, Jagadeeswara Rao Muvva, Jeronimo F. Rose, Clara Braian, Susanna Brighenti and Maria Lerm. Inhibition of Tissue Matrix Metalloproteinases Interferes with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-Induced Granuloma Formation and Reduces Bacterial Load in a Human Lung Tissue Model. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 2017; 8: 2370.
- III. Jagadeeswara Rao Muvva, Sultan Ahmed, Rokeya Sultana Rekha, Thomas schon, Ramona Groenheit, Peter Bergman, Susanna Brighenti and Birgitta Agerberth. Vitamin D- and Phenylbutyrate-mediated growth inhibition of multidrug-resistant *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in human macrophages is dependent on the antimicrobial peptide LL-37. *Manuscript*.
- IV. Jagadeeswara Rao Muvva, Venkata Ramanarao Parasa, Maria Lerm, Mattias Svensson and Susanna Brighenti.Polarization of human macrophages with vitamin D promotes control of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. *Manuscript*.

## ADDITIONAL PUBLICATIONS

Min Wan, Xiao Tang, Rokeya Sultana Rekha, **S. S. V. Jagadeeswara Rao Muvv**a, Susanna Brighenti, Birgitta Agerberth and Jesper Z. Haeggstrom. Prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> suppresses hCAP18/LL-37 expression in human macrophages *via* EP2/EP4: implications for treatment of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. *FASEB Journal*. 2018 May; 32(5):2827-2840.

Tadepally Lakshmikanth Frank Heuts, **S. S. V. Jagadeeswara Rao Muvva**, Robert P. A. Wallin, Anna-Karin Persson, Cyril Fauriat, Steven E. Applequist, Hans-Gustaf Ljunggren, Petter Hoglund, Klas Karre, Mattias Svensson and Julius G. Juarez. In vivo engineering of mobilized stem cell grafts with the immunomodulatory drug FTY720 for allogeneic transplantation. *European Journal of Immunology*. 2016 July; 46(7):1758-69.

# CONTENTS

| 1 | Background on TB infection  |   |  |    |  |  |
|---|-----------------------------|---|--|----|--|--|
|   | 1.1                         | Pathogenesis of TB infection                          |  |    |  |  |
|   | 1.2                         | The TB granuloma                                      |  |    |  |  |
|   | 1.3                         | Macrophage polarization in TB infection               |  |    |  |  |
|   | 1.4                         | Role of matrix metalloproteinases in the TB granuloma |  |    |  |  |
|   | 1.5                         | .5 Immune evasion mechanisms of MTB                   |  |    |  |  |
|   | 1.6                         | 1.6 Antimicrobial effector mechanisms in TB infection |  |    |  |  |
|   |                             | 1.6.1   | NO and ROS production:   | 8  |  |  |
|   |                             | 1.6.2   | Antimicrobial peptides:  | 8  |  |  |
|   |                             | 1.6.3   | Autophagy:   | 9  |  |  |
|   |                             | 1.6.4   | Macrophage extracellular traps (MET's):                          | 10 |  |  |
|   |                             | 1.6.5   | Cytokines:   | 11 |  |  |
|   | 1.7                         | Negati  | ve regulators of protective TB immunity                          | 12 |  |  |
|   | 1.8                         | Drug resistance in TB                                 |  |    |  |  |
|   | 1.9                         | Immun   | nomodulatory compounds-Host-directed therapies in TB             | 15 |  |  |
|   |                             | 1.9.1   | Vitamin D:   | 16 |  |  |
|   |                             | 1.9.2   | Phenylbutyrate:  | 18 |  |  |
| 2 | Aims, materials and Methods |   |  | 19 |  |  |
|   | 2.1                         | Aims  |  | 19 |  |  |
|   | 2.2                         | Background on disease models of TB infection          |  |    |  |  |
|   | 2.3                         | 2.3 Materials and methods                             |  | 20 |  |  |
|   |                             | 2.3.1   | Cell cultures:   | 22 |  |  |
|   |                             | 2.3.2   | Bacterial cultures:  | 22 |  |  |
|   |                             | 2.3.3   | Human organotypic lung tissue model:                             | 23 |  |  |
|   |                             | 2.3.4   | Inhibitors:  | 23 |  |  |
|   |                             | 2.3.5   | Knockdown/silencing of CAMP:                                     | 23 |  |  |
|   |                             | 2.3.6   | Quantitative PCR:  | 23 |  |  |
|   |                             | 2.3.7   | ELISA and western blot:  | 24 |  |  |
|   |                             | 2.3.8   | Microscopy:  | 24 |  |  |
|   |                             | 2.3.9   | Flow cytometry:  | 25 |  |  |
|   |                             | 2.3.10  | Bacterial growth:  | 25 |  |  |
|   | 2.4                         | 4 Statistical analyses                                |  | 26 |  |  |
|   | 2.5                         | Ethical   | l considerations   | 26 |  |  |
| 3 | Resu                        | lts and d   | liscussion   | 27 |  |  |
|   | 3.1                         | STUD  | Y I  | 27 |  |  |
|   |                             | 3.1.1   | Background   | 27 |  |  |
|   |                             | 3.1.2   | Mtb-mediated down-regulation of LL-37 expression in human        |    |  |  |
|   |                             |   | primary macrophages can be counteracted by PBA+VitD <sub>3</sub> | 28 |  |  |
|   |                             | 3.1.3   | Activation of autophagy in Mtb-infected macrophages by PBA       |    |  |  |
|   |                             |   | and VitD <sub>3</sub> treatment is dependent on LL-37            | 29 |  |  |

|                  | 3.1.4               | LL-37 activates macrophage autophagy in an autocrine or                    |    |  |  |
|------------------|---------------------|--|----|--|--|
|                  |                     | paracrine manner via the P2X7 receptor                                     | 30 |  |  |
| 3.2              | STUD                | Y III  | 31 |  |  |
|                  | 3.2.1               | Background   | 31 |  |  |
|                  | 3.2.2               | PBA+VitD <sub>3</sub> reduced intracellular growth of MDR-TB as well as    |    |  |  |
|                  |                     | drug-susceptible Mtb strains and possessed additive effects                |    |  |  |
|                  |                     | together with RIF and INH  | 33 |  |  |
|                  | 3.2.3               | PBA+VitD <sub>3</sub> -mediated inhibition of intracellular growth of MDR- |    |  |  |
|                  |                     | TB or H37Rv is dependent on LL-37  | 34 |  |  |
|                  | 3.2.4               | The role of bacterial fitness in MDR-TB                                    | 35 |  |  |
| 3.3              | STUDY II            |  |    |  |  |
|                  | 3.3.1               | Background   | 36 |  |  |
|                  | 3.3.2               | Early granuloma formation and Mtb growth is inhibited by the               |    |  |  |
|                  |                     | global MMP inhibitor marimastat  | 37 |  |  |
|                  | 3.3.3               | The effect of marimastat is not dependent on pro-inflammatory              |    |  |  |
|                  |                     | chemokines and cytokines secreted by Mtb-infected lung tissue              |    |  |  |
|                  |                     | models   | 38 |  |  |
|                  | 3.3.4               | Mtb infection resulted in expression of several MMPs both in lung          |    |  |  |
|                  |                     | tissue models and in lung tissue from patients with non-cavitary           |    |  |  |
|                  |                     | ТВ   | 39 |  |  |
| 3.4              | STUD                | Y IV   | 40 |  |  |
|                  | 3.4.1               | Background   | 40 |  |  |
|                  | 3.4.2               | <i>In vitro</i> polarized macrophages express typical M1 and M2            |    |  |  |
|                  |                     | phenotypic markers but adopt a mixed M1/M2 phenotype post-                 |    |  |  |
|                  |                     | Mtb infection  | 41 |  |  |
|                  | 3.4.3               | Enhanced Mtb growth in both M1 and M2 subsets at 72 h post-                |    |  |  |
|                  |                     | Mtb infection compared with VitD <sub>3</sub> -polarized macrophages       |    |  |  |
|                  |                     | despite lower bacterial uptake in M1 cells at 4 h                          | 42 |  |  |
|                  | 3.4.4               | Mtb-infected VitD <sub>3</sub> -polarized macrophages are more pro-        |    |  |  |
|                  |                     | inflammatory and express higher mRNA levels of LL-37                       |    |  |  |
|                  |                     | compared with M1 and M2 subsets  | 43 |  |  |
| Conc             | lusions             | -  | 45 |  |  |
| Sum              | mary                |  | 46 |  |  |
| Futu             | Future perspectives |  |    |  |  |
| Acknowledgements |                     |  |    |  |  |
| Refe             | rences              |  | 51 |  |  |

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| 3MA            | 3-Methyladenine  |
|----------------|--|
| AMPK           | 5' Adenosine Monophosphate-activated Protein Kinase  |
| Argl           | Arginase1  |
| ATG5           | Autophagy Related Gene 5   |
| ART            | Anti Retroviral Therapy  |
| ВАРТА          | 1,2-bis(o-aminophenoxy)ethane-N,N,N',N'-tetra acetic acid  |
| BECN1          | Beclin1  |
| CAMP           | Cathelicidin Antimicrobial Peptide Gene  |
| CCR7           | C-C Chemokine Receptor Type 7  |
| DEFB1          | Human β Defencin 1 Gene  |
| DUOX2          | Dual Oxidase 2   |
| GFP            | Green Fluorescent Protein  |
| GMCSF          | Granlocyte Monocyte Colony Stimulating Factor  |
| HDAC inhibitor | Histone Deacetylase Inhibitor  |
| IDO            | Indoleamine-Pyrrole 2,3-Dioxygenase  |
| IFNγ           | Interferon Gamma   |
| IL-1β          | Interleukin -1 Beta  |
| IL-10          | Interleukin-10   |
| IL-4           | Interleukin-4  |
| IL-12          | Interleukin-12   |
| IL1Ra          | Interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist  |
| IL-6           | Interleukin-6  |
| IL-8           | Interleukin-8  |
| INH            | Isoniazid  |
| iNOS           | Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase  |
| IP10           | Inducible Protein 10   |
| KN62           | 4-[(2S)-2-[(5-isoquinolinyl sulfonyl)methylamino]-3-oxo-3-(4-<br>phenyl-1-piperazinyl)propyl]phenyl isoquinoline sulfonic acid ester |

| LAM         | Lipoarabinomannan  |
|-------------|--|
| L-NMMA      | N <sup>G</sup> -Methyl-L-arginine Acetate Salt   |
| LC3I        | 5' Adenosine Monophosphate-activated Protein Kinase  |
| LC3II       | 5' Adenosine Monophosphate-activated Protein Kinase  |
| LL-37       | Cathelicidin Antimicrobial Peptide   |
| LPS         | Lipopolysaccharide   |
| MCP-1/CCL2  | Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein 1/Chemokine (C-C  |
|             | motif) Ligand 2  |
| MCSF        | Monocyte Colony Stimulating Factor   |
| MET         | Macrophage Extracellular Trap  |
| MIC         | Minimum Inhibitory Concentration   |
| MMP         | Matrix Metallo Proteinases   |
| Mtb         | Mycobacterium tuberculosis   |
| NAC         | N- Acetyl Cysteine   |
| NET         | Neutrophil Extracellular Trap  |
| NLRP        | Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain,   |
|             | Leucine rich Repeat and Pyrin domain   |
| NO          | Nitric Oxide   |
| NOD         | Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain  |
| NOS2A       | Nitric Oxide Synthase2 Gene  |
| oxATP       | oxidized Adenosine 5'-Triphosphate   |
| P2RX7       | P2X Purinoceptor 7   |
| PBA         | Sodium Phenyl Butyric Acid   |
| PI3K        | Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase  |
| RANTES/CCL5 | Regulated on Activation, Normal T cell expressed and secreted/<br>chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 5 |
| RIF         | Rifampicin   |
| RNI         | Reactive Nitrogen Intermediates  |
| ROS         | Reactive Oxygen Species  |
| shRNA       | Short hair pin RNA   |

| siRNA             | Small interference RNA                                    |
|-------------------|---|
| TB                | Tuberculosis  |
| TB-IRIS           | Tuberculosis- Immune Reconstitution Inflammatory Syndrome |
| THP-1             | Human Monocytic Cell Line                                 |
| TIMP              | Tissue inhibitor of Metalloproteinases                    |
| TLR2              | Toll like receptor 2                                      |
| VDR               | VitaminD receptor   |
| VitD <sub>3</sub> | Active vitamin $D(1,25(OH)_2D_3)$                         |

## **1 BACKGROUND ON TB INFECTION**

Tuberculosis is a human disease caused by Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb) and accounts for more than 1.5 million deaths every year and still remains one of the major killers among infectious diseases (Lozano, Naghavi et al. 2012). The incidence of TB is increasing due to diverse factors including rapid globalization (Pareek, Greenaway et al. 2016), HIV co-infection (Moir, Chun et al. 2011) and other comorbidities such as diabetes (Jeon and Murray 2008) and rheumatoid arthritis (Kisacik, Pamuk et al. 2016) but also because of the emergence of multidrug resistant TB (MDR-TB). This also includes extensively drug resistant TB strains (XDR-TB) in different parts of the world, which is a matter of concern as no definitive cure is currently available. So, it is a dire necessity to understand the pathogenesis of the disease in the human host and based on this knowledge, explore new alternative treatment strategies, such as host-directed therapies that could support conventional standard antibiotic treatment. Standard chemotherapy used to treat drug-susceptible TB, normally requires 6-8 months of treatment with multiple drugs. Instead, treatment of MDR-TB is considerably more complicated, costly and longer, usually from 9 month up to 2 years, also including second line-drugs that are less efficient in Mtb killing and also associated with unwanted side-effects (Lange, Chesov et al. 2018).

#### 1.1 PATHOGENESIS OF TB INFECTION

TB is a chronic infectious disease primarily affecting the lungs. Mtb mainly enters the host via the airways, where bronchial epithelial cells and alveolar macrophages are the primary cells that encounter the bacteria. Mtb is an intracellular bacterium that multiplies in macrophages and eventually exit the host in infectious aerosols that contribute to the spread of TB infection. After gaining entry into the host, Mtb needs to pass through a mechanical barrier in the form of airway epithelium and also functional barriers of innate and adaptive immunity, to establish a successful infection (Cambier, Falkow et al. 2014). Hence, the host immune response to Mtb infection is multifaceted, involving a spectrum of innate and adaptive immune responses. Innate immune response to Mtb are executed by neutrophils, macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs) and NK cells, whereas T and B cells are key cells of the adaptive immune response(Ulrichs and Kaufmann 2006). Mtb can efficiently avoid, circumvent or manipulate host defense mechanisms to survive in the host. Accordingly, Mtb has evolved efficient strategies to escape from innate as well as adaptive immune responses (Cambier, Falkow et al. 2014).

A productive Mtb infection is established in the macrophages harbors live bacteria for extended periods of time. The first-line of host defense includes production of toxic nitric oxide (NO) via inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) (Rich, Torres et al. 1997) and antimicrobial peptides, primarily human cathelicidin, LL-37 (Rivas-Santiago, Hernandez-Pando et al. 2008). Macrophages also eliminate intracellular bacteria by different cellular mechanisms such as apoptosis (Keane, Balcewicz-Sablinska et al. 1997), phagocytosis or by activation of autophagy (Gutierrez, Master et al. 2004) (Figure 1). Here, autophagy, which is a homeostatic cellular process to degrade intracellular debris or altered cells, has recently been described as one of the most important mechanisms to control intracellular growth of Mtb. However, complete eradication of Mtb is rare, as virulent mycobacteria have developed sophisticated strategies to persist in macrophages even in the presence of inflammation. Shortly after Mtb has successfully invaded its host, Mtb-infected macrophages and other immune cells initiate a granulomatous inflammatory reaction, which is characterized by the formation of granulomas. The TB granuloma is composed of aggregates of immune cells located at the site of Mtb infection in the lung that is the hallmark of human TB.

#### 1.2 THE TB GRANULOMA

Granulomas are dynamic, ball-like collections of Mtb-infected macrophages that cluster together with other immune cells such as T and B cells, neutrophils and DCs, probably in an attempt to contain the Mtb infection (Figure 1) (Andersson, Samarina et al. 2007). However, early in the TB infection granulomas may also have a function to seed the infection to newly derived monocytes that migrate to the site of infection (Davis and Ramakrishnan 2009). Mtbinfected macrophages in the lungs attract monocytes from the blood, which migrate into the tissue and differentiate into macrophages that participate in the immune responses against Mtb. These monocytes/macrophages may also become infected with Mtb and propagate the infection. DCs are normally not infected with Mtb, but instead take up bacteria and debris from dead Mtb-infected cells to process these for antigen-presentation and triggering of Mtb-specific T cell responses. Effective TB control is dependent on Th1 CD4+ T cell and cytolytic CD8+ T cell responses. This includes production of IFN $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$  (Newport, Huxley et al. 1996, Keane, Gershon et al. 2001) as well as cytotoxic and antimicrobial effector molecules such as perforin and granulysin (Stenger, Hanson et al. 1998, Bruns, Meinken et al. 2009). Effector T cells contribute to the protective response in the granulomas and localize in the peripheral rim surrounding Mtb-infected macrophages that constitutes the core of the granuloma (Brighenti and Andersson 2012).



**Figure 1.** Mtb-infected macrophages can eradicate or control the infection by induction of autophagy or phagocytosis, or by undergoing apoptosis. T cells executing granule-mediated cytotoxicity (i.e. perforin and granulysin) are efficient to kill mycobacteria that can otherwise spread the infection to adjacent cells. Mtb-infected macrophages can also attract new monocytes and other immune cells to form dynamic cellular structures called granulomas that contain the infection at the disease site(s) (Brighenti and Andersson 2012). Most individuals can control the infection in a latent state, but if the immunological balance is tipped in favor of the bacteria, some progress to active, contagious TB disease (Saunders and Britton 2007). Picture modified from (Andersson, Samarina et al. 2007).

The macrophages involved in the granuloma formation are rich in cytoplasm and are termed as epithelioid cells. Upon chronic activation, macrophages in turn fuse together to form multinucleated giant cells, another typical hallmark of human tuberculosis (Brighenti and Andersson 2012). These giant cells destroy the surrounding tissue using lytic enzymes. However the functional role of these giant cells and the dynamic changes in the granuloma is yet to be determined. At the site of Mtb infection, macrophages further differentiate into proinflammatory M1 or anti-inflammatory M2 depending on the environmental cytokine milieu (Italiani and Boraschi 2014). One hypothesis is that the ratio between M1 and M2 macrophage responses are the main players in determining the fate of infection (Flynn, Chan et al. 2011).

The persistent bacterial infection in the host is maintained as a latent infection or manifests as active disease based on several host as well as bacterial virulence factors. Infection can become

latent or progress into active disease, although the bacterial and/or immunological factors that determine this fate are largely unknown (Saunders and Britton 2007).

The dissemination of Mtb infection depends on the integrity and size of granulomas. Larger, necrotic and poorly organized granulomas, spread the infection extensively. Granulomas are hypoxic and it has been shown that in hypoxic environment neutrophils secrete MMP8 and MMP9 upon Mtb infection (Ong, Fox et al. 2018), which in turn disturbs the architecture of the granuloma resulting in dissemination of infection. Additionally, Mtb infection also induces the secretion of MMPs by different cell types at the site of infection (Parasa, Muvva et al. 2017). Depending on the host response and severity of infection granulomas in human TB are classified based on morphology into fibrotic, necrotic and caseous granulomas (Kim, Wainwright et al. 2010). Necrotic granulomas easily rupture into the airways, releasing live mycobacteria that can spread the infection to another host.

#### **1.3 MACROPHAGE POLARIZATION IN TB INFECTION**

As described above, macrophages play a central role in the regulation of TB infection, as the primary host immune cell that become infected with Mtb. Macrophages are versatile cells that can be polarized to express a spectrum of functional programs in response to different stimuli. Montovani et.al. has classified the macrophages into classically activated M1 macrophages (pro-inflammatory) or alternatively activated M2 macrophages (anti-inflammatory and tissue repair) based on their functional responses to different exogenous and environmental stimuli (Mantovani, Sica et al. 2004) (Figure 2a). Adding more complexity to this paradigm, the M2 macrophages can display a number of functional changes and thus be further divided into M2a (inflammation and allergy), M2b (immunoregulation) and M2c (tissue repair). RNA sequencing of M1/M2 markers have been described in both humans and non-human primates (Beyer, Mallmann et al. 2012, Gonzalez, Novak et al. 2015).

However, the differences in the phenotypic and functional responses in these macrophages are not black and white, but should be considered as a continuum where there is overlap with certain phenotypes and functions (Figure 2b). M1 and M2 macrophages may be considered as the extremes on a broad scale of macrophage activation. While the nomenclature of polarized macrophages are quite variable in the literature, the importance is to stay focused on the function of the macrophage, regardless of the terminology (Murray, Allen et al. 2014).



**Figure 2.** Monocytes can be polarized to pro-inflammatory M1 or anti-inflammatory M2a, M2b and M2c with different functional responses depending on the exogenous stimuli. Picture modified from (Nagela Ghabdan Zanluqui, and et al. 2015).

M1 macrophages are believed to be important in the clearance of intracellular mycobacteria, either via direct antimicrobial functions or by the induction of Th1 responses that is required to control TB. Macrophages can exert M1-like functional responses when stimulated with IFN $\gamma$ , TNF $\alpha$  and TLR ligands to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines and effector molecules such as TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, CCL3, CCL4 and iNOS (Bashir, Sharma et al. 2016). Proof of the classical role of IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$  in TB disease has been studied in knock-out mice, that died rapidly after mycobacterial infection, primarily due to the lack of NO-production in infected macrophages (Bloom and Modlin 2016). But excess pro-inflammatory responses can result in serious immunopathology, which is counteracted by M2-like alternatively activated macrophages known to differentiate in a microenvironment rich in IL-4 and IL-13 (Gordon 2003). These M2 macrophages may induce a Th2 or regulatory T cell response by secreting anti-inflammatory cytokines like IL-10 and TGF $\beta$ , which is believed to be less protective in human TB (Bashir, Sharma et al. 2016).

M2 macrophages may typically express several surface receptors that promote phagocytosis and antigen presentation and aid in resolving inflammation by transmitting inhibitory signals including mannose receptor CD206, scavenger receptor CD163, inhibitory CD200R, IL-1RA, chemokines CCL18 and CCL22 (Mosser and Edwards 2008, Koning, van Eijk et al. 2010). M2 macrophages also express the intracellular enzyme arginase that is known to down-regulate NO synthesis and NO-mediated cytotoxicity, by competing with iNOS for the cellular substrate L-arginine. Arginase-mediated L-arginine depletion profoundly suppresses T cell immune responses and support enhanced collagen synthesis and fibrosis as well as tissue remodeling, which are not associated with protective immunity in TB (Munder 2009). Accordingly, mice with arginase-deficient macrophages, demonstrated decreased bacterial load upon Mtb infection, which correlated with increased NO production (El Kasmi, Qualls et al. 2008). So, while there is a tight regulation of the ratio of M1 and M2 macrophages in healthy tissue, this ratio may be disturbed at the site of Mtb infection, leading to either confinement or progression of TB disease (Mattila, Ojo et al. 2013, Marino, Cilfone et al. 2015). Recently it has been reported that Mtb induce macrophage polarization through micro RNAs (Ahluwalia, Pandey et al. 2017).

During initial inflammation there is an increase in the M1/M2 ratio with an elevated Th1 response and once TB infection is controlled there is a Th2 response with more M2 macrophages secreting IL-10 to down-regulate the inflammation and maintain tissue integrity. However, skewing the immune response towards excess Th2, including activation of antibody-producing B cells, may be a strategy used by virulent mycobacteria to subvert protective immunity (Ashenafi, Aderaye et al. 2013, Ashenafi, Aderaye et al. 2014). Several immunomodulatory compounds are being studied that could modify the host response in TB disease by polarizing macrophages towards specific M2-type cells, which can kill the bacteria by enhancing the LL-37 secretion, inducing autophagy and simultaneously handle tissue remodeling by secretion of IL-10 (Patel, Rajasingh et al. 2016).

#### 1.4 ROLE OF MATRIX METALLOPROTEINASES IN THE TB GRANULOMA

Macrophages are the corner stone in TB granuloma formation, although the mechanisms that drive this process are still mostly unknown. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) is a family of zinc-containing proteases that are involved in matrix and tissue destruction (Elkington and Friedland 2006, Volkman, Pozos et al. 2010, Ong, Elkington et al. 2014) and remodeling and thus play a role in the pulmonary pathology of TB and other diseases (Elkington, Nuttall et al. 2005, Elkington and Friedland 2006, Volkman, Pozos, Volkman, Pozos et al. 2010). MMP1 has been demonstrated to be up-regulated in both animal models of TB and in patients with clinical TB

using gene expression analysis and also protein expression in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and sputum samples (Elkington, Shiomi et al. 2011, Ugarte-Gil, Elkington et al. 2013). Levels of MMP1, 2, 3, 7, 10 and 12 are elevated in TB patients with diabetes that correlates with disease severity and inflammation, which is resolved after anti-TB treatment or metformin treatment (Kumar, Moideen et al. 2018). Likewise, the levels of MMP1 in patient's sputum drop during medical treatment of TB (Ugarte-Gil, Elkington et al. 2013). MMP9 is secreted by epithelial cells, macrophages and giant cells in humans (Zhu, Price et al. 2007) and is also involved in epithelial cell migration, and recruitment of macrophages and other inflammatory cells to the site of Mtb infection (Chakrabarti and Patel 2005, Elkington and Friedland 2006, Ramakrishnan 2013). High levels of circulating MMP1 and MMP9 have been shown to correlate with TB disease severity (Elkington and Friedland 2006, Ugarte-Gil, Elkington et al. 2013). Moreover, MMP's can be inhibited by a group of enzymes, tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs). These TIMPs play a key role in the fibrosis of the granuloma. However, the exact stage of TB disease at which the MMPs and TIMPs act and how these are regulated in human pulmonary TB is still unclear (Ong, Elkington et al. 2014).

#### 1.5 IMMUNE EVASION MECHANISMS OF MTB

Mtb has existed in humans for centuries and it is a highly successful pathogen that has developed several virulence factors to secure its survival in the human host. One such factor is the ESAT-6 protein, a key component of the type VII secretion system, ESX-1. Virulent mycobacteria expressing ESAT-6 can translocate from the phagosome into the cytoplasm and replicate in the cytoplasm thereby escaping phagosomal degradation (van der Wel, Hava et al. 2007). The ESX-1 virulence factor is also implicated in the impairment of autophagy-mediated clearance of intracellular bacteria (Romagnoli, Etna et al. 2012). ESAT-6-expressing mycobacteria has also been shown to inhibit initial granuloma formation in TB (Parasa, Rahman et al. 2014). Some evidence suggest that mycobacterial virulence factors can interfere with M1 polarization and skew the host response to an M2 phenotype which are poorly bactericidal, in order to facilitate their intracellular replication and persistence (Freeman, Post et al. 2006).

#### **1.6 ANTIMICROBIAL EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN TB INFECTION**

Macrophages can employ different effector mechanisms to eradicate intracellular mycobacteria, such as direct killing by producing NO, ROS, antimicrobial peptides, or activation of

autophagy (Figure 3) but also by the formation macrophage extracellular traps (Metushi and Uetrecht) and cytokine release.

#### 1.6.1 NO and ROS production:

Polymorphisms in the NOS2 (NO) and NOX2 (Weiss and Schaible) genes increases the susceptibility to TB infection indicating that reactive nitrogen or oxygen intermediates may play a role in TB pathogenesis (Ehrt and Schnappinger 2009, Bustamante, Arias et al. 2011). Although, NO-mediated killing of Mtb has been shown to be efficient for TB control in the mouse model (Scanga, Mohan et al. 2001), less is known about the clinical importance of NO in humans. NO is detectable in the exhaled air and urine of TB and TB/HIV patients and also in close contacts. But the exact role of NO in the risk of contracting TB disease or in the severity of the disease is not clear (Idh, Westman et al. 2008). Interestingly, some groups have tested the 'peanut therapy for TB' aiming to increase the availability of the NO-substrate arginine in the host cells. This peanut therapy was previously shown to improve the clinical outcome of TB in HIV-positive patients (Schon, Idh et al. 2011). iNOS expression in the alveolar macrophages and NO in the exhaled air increased in patients with active TB and decreased with anti-TB treatment (Wang, Liu et al. 1998). Similar to NO, the role of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in human TB control have remained obscure. Several studies have addressed the role of neutrophil generated ROS in the induction of apoptosis, and a recent study revealed that TLR4-mediated NOX2 stimulation generated ROS, aiding in the fusion of phagosome as well as bacterial control (Lv, He et al. 2017).

#### 1.6.2 Antimicrobial peptides:

LL-37 is an antimicrobial peptide that was discovered and isolated in humans from bone marrow cells (Gudmundsson, Agerberth et al. 1996). It can increase the phagocytosis of gram+ve and gram-ve bacteria, enhancing bacterial clearance (Wan, van der Does et al. 2014). LL-37 has an important role in the innate defense mechanisms at mucosal surfaces by interacting with the bacteria using ionic strength and killing through osmotic lysis (Nizet and Gallo 2003, Tsai, Yang et al. 2011). Previous studies have demonstrated that LL-37 efficiently reduce intracellular survival of mycobacteria (Sonawane, Santos et al. 2011). Macrophages have been shown to engulf LL-37 present in NETs and use the peptide for killing of intracellular mycobacteria (Stephan, Batinica et al. 2016). Interestingly, high levels of LL-37 in serum or plasma of patients with active TB may correlate with TB disease progression (Majewski, Agier et al. 2017). Instead, LL-37 expression has been reported to be low at the site

of Mtb infection in tissue (Rahman, Rehn et al. 2015, Ashenafi, Mazurek et al. 2018). This suggests that high LL-37 levels in the peripheral circulation could be used as a biomarker for active TB, while low levels of LL-37 at the site of Mtb infection is suggestive of low protective TB immunity.

It has previously been shown that vitamin D<sub>3</sub> (VitD<sub>3</sub>) can enhance intracellular killing of Mtb in human monocytes and macrophages via induction of LL-37 (Liu, Stenger et al. 2006, Liu, Stenger et al. 2007). Later on, it was demonstrated that VitD<sub>3</sub> had a role in LL-37-dependent activation of autophagy in Mtb-infected macrophages, which resulted in increased clearance of intracellular mycobacteria (Liu, Stenger et al. 2007, Yuk, Shin et al. 2009). LL-37-mediated activation of autophagy have been shown to occur through the P2X7 receptor pathway (Rekha, Rao Muvva et al. 2015). Additionally, apart from its bactericidal properties, LL-37 promotes macrophage functional differentiation (van der Does, Beekhuizen et al. 2010). MCSF generated macrophages acquired a pro-inflammatory signature with low expression of CD163 and IL-10, in the presence of LL-37 (van der Does, Beekhuizen et al. 2010). LL-37 can also act as a chemoattractant for other immune cells (De, Chen et al. 2000).

Another antimicrobial peptide, human  $\beta$ -defensin 2, has been implicated in the control of TB infection (Reuschl, Edwards et al. 2017). Interestingly, it has been reported that human  $\beta$ -defensin 2 controls cutaneous TB (Zhao, Mu et al. 2016).

#### 1.6.3 Autophagy:

Autophagy is a highly conserved lysosomal degradation process, where cellular long-lived proteins and damaged organelles are engulfed into a double-membrane structure called autophagosome. Later on, the autophagosome fuses with a lysosome to form the autolysosome, in which the contents are digested and released back into the cytoplasm for further utilization by the cells (Shintani and Klionsky 2004). Moreover, autophagy has been implicated in innate and adaptive immunity (Levine and Deretic 2007) as it can manage and promote killing of several intracellular pathogens like Shigella (Ogawa, Yoshimori et al. 2005), Salmonella (Birmingham, Smith et al. 2006) and Mtb (Gutierrez, Master et al. 2004). Mycobacteria secretes different virulence factors that inhibit several genes involved in autophagy signaling, from the initiation of the autophagosome like Atg5, and Beclin-1, to the fusion with the lysosome (Rekha, Rao Muvva et al. 2015) (Figure 3). Guitierrez *et.al*, have shown that induction of autophagy by rapamycin in Mtb-infected macrophages increases the maturation of

the autophagosome thereby enhancing the intracellular killing of mycobacteria (Gutierrez, Master et al. 2004).



**Figure 3.** Intracellular bacterial clearance can be employed by the macrophage using different mechanisms such as direct killing by LL-37, LL-37 mediated autophagy and by Nitric oxide production.

Several studies indicate that TNF $\alpha$  and IFN $\gamma$  (Singh, Davis et al. 2006) induce autophagy in immune cells, but Mtb have the capacity to inhibit TNF $\alpha$ -mediated autophagy by inhibition of the NF-kb pathway (Djavaheri-Mergny, Amelotti et al. 2006). Likewise, IFN $\gamma$ -mediated activation of autophagy is inhibited by the Th2 cytokines, IL-4 and IL-13, secreted by Mtb-infected macrophages in an autocrine manner (Manca, Reed et al. 2004, Freeman, Post et al. 2006, Sun, Lim et al. 2006). These studies suggest that autophagy can be activated by Th1 cytokines and inhibited by Th2 cytokines.

#### **1.6.4 Macrophage extracellular traps (MET's):**

Macrophage extra cellular traps (MET's) were first reported in mouse macrophages against *Staphylococcus aureus* (Chow, von Kockritz-Blickwede et al. 2010). Macrophage extracellular traps, similar to neutrophil extracellular traps (NET), contain cellular or mitochondrial DNA along with antimicrobial peptides. However, macrophage traps are not as common as neutrophil extracellular traps. Mtb induces the formation of MET's, especially when the bacteria form clumps and are difficult to phagocytose. Mycobacterial virulence factors such as ESX-1 have been shown to be involved in inhibiting the formation of MET's (Kalsum, Braian et al. 2017).

#### 1.6.5 Cytokines:

Macrophages can produce cytokines like IL-6, IL-1β, TNFa, IL-12 and IL-10 upon activation including infection with Mtb, and these cytokines likely play an important role in disease pathogenesis. The definitive role of **IL-6** in human TB is not clearly understood. However, it has been shown that IL-6 inhibits IFNy signaling in human macrophages, thereby inhibiting autophagy that facilitates bacterial growth (Nagabhushanam, Solache et al. 2003, Dutta, Kathania et al. 2012). Moreover, an association between SNP's (single-nucleotide polymorphism) in IL-6 and TNF $\alpha$  has been observed in pulmonary TB patients compared with latent TB (Wu, Wang et al. 2018). IL-10 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine that acts directly on the macrophage and promotes a switch to the M2 phenotype, which are less bactericidal and more involved in tissue remodeling (Redford, Murray et al. 2011). Furthermore, IL-10 may counteract the effects of TNF $\alpha$  and IL-12 (Abdalla, Lambert et al. 2016). **IL-12** is crucial in the activation of dendritic cells and also stimulates CD4+ T cells to produce IFN-y during Mtb infection. Both humans and mice deficient in IL-12 signaling pathways are more susceptible to TB infections (Cooper, Solache et al. 2007). It has also been observed that the Mtb cell wall component LAM (lipoarabinomannan) inhibits IL-12 production thereby inhibiting IFNy secretion (Cooper, Solache et al. 2007). IL-1 $\beta$  is an important pro-inflammatory cytokine produced by innate immune cells during Mtb infection. IL-1β synthesis is stimulated by TLR4 and NOD2 mediated pathways. The TLR4 pathway signals via NFkB, which results in production of pro-IL-1ß (Greten, Arkan et al. 2007). Pro-IL-1ß is further cleaved by the NLRP3 inflammasome inducing caspase-1 to synthesize active IL-1 $\beta$  or alternatively, the NLRP3 pathway induces IL-1ß secretion directly. Mycobacterial virulence factors may inhibit the activation of inflammasome that results in declining IL-1ß production (Master, Rampini et al. 2008). It has been reported that a genetic variation, resulting in enhanced NLRP3 inflammasome activity, promote control of Mtb infection in human macrophages mediated via IL-1β (Eklund, Welin et al. 2014). VitD<sub>3</sub> treatment of macrophages and lung epithelial cells, have also been shown to enhance IL-1β secretion, facilitating in enhanced Mtb killing (Eklund, Persson et al. 2013). TNF $\alpha$  is produced by a number of cell types, including macrophages, lymphocytes, neutrophils, mast cells and endothelial cells. TNF $\alpha$  play a critical role in TB granuloma formation by enhancing the recruitment of macrophages and T cells to participate in granuloma formation and also in reducing bacterial replication (Clay, Volkman et al. 2008, Egen, Rothfuchs et al. 2008). In an IFNy dependent manner, TNF $\alpha$  promotes the fusion of lysosomes with phagosomes and further initiates autophagy (Andrade, Wessendarp et al. 2006, Jia, Cheng et al. 2006). Low TNF $\alpha$  levels result in reduced TB disease control and poorly organized granuloma formation (Chakravarty, Zhu et al. 2008). But high, excessive levels of TNF $\alpha$  may also be destructive and correlate with extensive tissue damage and inflammation. The effects of TNF $\alpha$  in human TB, was discovered from rheumatoid arthritis patients using TNF $\alpha$  antagonists (Askling, Fored et al. 2005). It was observed that latent TB infection was reactivated in patients who received treatment with TNF $\alpha$  antagonists. Low TNF $\alpha$  impairs CD8+ effector memory T cells, highlighting the importance of TNF $\alpha$  in eliciting adaptive immune response against Mtb infection (Bruns, Meinken et al. 2009).

#### 1.7 NEGATIVE REGULATORS OF PROTECTIVE TB IMMUNITY

Protective immune responses in TB can be suppressed by different regulatory immune cell subsets and inhibitory pathways. The main cell types participating in this negative regulation of protective immunity are regulatory T cells (Treg), regulatory B cells, tolerogenic DCs, and M2 or regulatory macrophages as well as myeloid suppressor cells (Brighenti and Joosten 2018). Mtb has developed hostile strategies that can induce, expand and in other ways enhance the activity of these different regulatory subsets. For example, the inhibitory enzyme, IDO (indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase), is involved in tryptophan catabolism, which can slow the growth of microbes as well as T cells. IDO has been shown to be highly expressed in *in vitro* infected macrophages, and it was recently reported that IDO is increased in the macrophage rich areas of pulmonary TB in non-human primates (Gautam, Foreman et al. 2018). Tolerogenic DCs can also express high levels of IDO (Harden and Egilmez 2012), or secrete different immunosuppressive cytokines such as IL-10 or IL-13 to dampen the immune response upon Mtb infection (Kim, Kwon et al. 2017). Furthermore, naturally occurring CD4+CD25+ or CD4+FoxP3+ Treg cells are the most well studied subset in the context of negative immune regulation in TB. FoxP3+ Treg cells are increased at the site of Mtb infection in pulmonary TB (Sharma, Saha et al. 2009) and CD4+CD25+ Treg cells dampen IFNy production from effector T cells in active TB (Ribeiro-Rodrigues, Resende Co et al. 2006). CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ Treg cells have also been shown to contribute to immune dysfunction and bacterial persistence in patients with XDR-TB (Davids, Pooran et al. 2018). In addition, activated T cells can be induced to secrete IL-10 and thereby decreasing T cell proliferation and switching the macrophage phenotype to an anti-inflammatory M2 in Mtb infection (Moreira-Teixeira, Redford et al. 2017). Ultimately, alternatively activated M2 macrophages and tolerogenic DCs

could promote Treg cells ad their function, and correspondingly, Treg cells could suppress effector responses of other immune cells at the site of Mtb infection.

#### 1.8 DRUG RESISTANCE IN TB

Multidrug resistance is a common problem among TB patients and according to the WHO Global TB report in 2018, 558 000 patients had MDR-TB or XDR-TB and 230 000 deaths occurred due to drug-resistant Mtb in 2017. Socioeconomic factors such as poverty, overcrowding conditions, and malnourishment, non-compliance to treatment and recurrence of the disease, all contribute to drug resistance. In olden days, multidrug resistance incidence was higher among prisoners due to poor living conditions (Davies 2001). The emergence of resistance is caused by mutations in the bacterial genome that occurs naturally in the bacterial population. Thus, drug-resistance can be acquired during inadequate treatment by selection of drug-resistant bacilli that occur with a certain frequency. Or drug-resistance can spread via transmission of MDR-TB strains, which is called primary resistance. Notably, the chance of TB recurrence is high, even after successful completion of treatment. Accordingly, multidrug resistance has been reported to be substantially higher among previously treated TB cases compared to newly diagnosed TB cases (Manjelievskaia, Erck et al. 2016, Lange, Chesov et al. 2018).

Multidrug resistance is generally defined as Mtb bacteria resistant to two of the first line drugs used in TB treatment, isoniazid (INH) and rifampicin (RIF). Other classifications, according to resistance are XDR-TB, where the bacteria are found to be resistant to INH, RIF and to one of the injectable second line drugs such as amikacin, kanamycin and fluoroquinolones. The mechanism of action for different drugs is illustrated in figure 4.

**Isoniazid** is a bactericidal drug that acts on actively dividing bacteria. It is effective in dramatically reducing the bacterial load up to 95% within two days of starting the therapy. The drug is produced in the form of prodrug that is activated by the enzyme mycobacterial catalaseperoxidase, katG (Unissa, Subbian et al. 2016). The activated drug acts primarily on the metabolically active bacteria by inhibiting mycolic acid synthesis. Bacteria develop INH resistance, mainly through mutations in the *katG* gene that encodes the catalase enzyme. This is the most frequently observed mutation among clinical isolate samples (Somoskovi, Parsons et al. 2001). The other common mutation includes the *inhA* gene that encodes NADH-dependent enoyl-acyl carrier protein (ACP)-reductase required for mycolic acid synthesis. Moreover, mutations in promoter and coding regions of the *inhA* gene were shown to result in resistance not only to INH, but also cross-resistance to ethionamide. Additionally, mutations in NDH (NADH dehydrogenase), *ahpC* and *kasA* genes may lead to INH resistance (Palomino and Martin 2014).



Figure 4. First line anti-TB drugs and their mechanism of action.

**Rifampicin** acts both on active and non-active or slow metabolizing bacteria. The bactericidal effect of the drug is attributed to its inhibitory action on transcription by binding to the enzyme DNA-dependent RNA polymerase (Somoskovi, Parsons et al. 2001). Bacteria develop resistance to RIF due to mutations in the hot spot region in the RNA polymerase gene. The clinical relevance of RIF resistant Mtb strains is highlighted by the fact that mycobacteria resistant to RIF are typically resistant to other anti-TB drugs. Thus, resistance to RIF is suggested to be a surrogate marker for multidrug resistance (Palomino and Martin 2014).

**Ethambutol** works as bacteriostatic drug and interferes with cell wall synthesis by inhibiting arabinogalactan, a component of the mycobacterial cell wall. Arabinogalactan synthesis requires arbinosyl transferase, an enzyme encoded by the *embCAB* gene in mycobacteria. Resistance to this drug involves mutations in the *embB* gene. (Palomino and Martin 2014).

**Pyrazinamide** is, similar to INH, also a prodrug. It is converted to the active form by the enzyme pyrazinamidase encoded by the *pncA* gene. It acts on slow growing mycobacteria and

exerts its function by inhibiting cell membrane transport. Resistance to this drug has been shown to result mainly from mutations in the *pncA* gene (Palomino and Martin 2014).

Apart from the bactericidal or bacteriostatic actions of standard anti-TB drugs, these antibiotics also modulate host immune responses such as phagocytosis, chemotaxis, antigen presentation, cytokine secretion and autophagy (Giuliani, Porcelli et al. 1998, Minic, Bojic et al. 2009). RIF is one of the first-line drugs that enhance the expression of CD1b on host cells, thereby increasing lipid antigen presentation (Giuliani, Porcelli et al. 1998). Pyrazinamide and INH have been shown to induce host autophagy (Kim, Lee et al. 2012) but these antibiotics can also reduce the release of essential pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines such as IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, TNF $\alpha$ , IL-2, and MCP-1 (Mendez, Traslavina et al. 2009, Kim, Lee et al. 2012, Manca, Koo et al. 2013).

The above mentioned four drugs fall under first-line drugs for treatment of active TB, indicating that the drugs that are available for effective treatment are limited and bacteria has developed resistance mechanisms to circumvent their actions. Thus, there is a dire need to develop new drugs or treatment strategies to prevent the emergence of drug-resistant bacteria and to reduce the duration of treatment. But using compounds with direct anti-bacterial effects will eventually always result in drug-resistance. To overcome this problem, a possible method would be to boost protective host immunity that could support the standard drugs to fight intracellular as well as invading bacteria. This way, the bacterial infection would be targeted from two directions: 1.) direct killing effects by the drugs, and 2.) indirect killing effects of compounds that enhance antimicrobial host responses.

#### 1.9 IMMUNOMODULATORY COMPOUNDS-HOST-DIRECTED THERAPIES IN TB

Treatment of TB involves intake of several drugs daily for six months or more depending on drug-susceptibility testing and the site of Mtb infection. MDR-TB or XDR-TB may extend the time for treatment considerably, for up to two years. In spite of these long treatment regimens, the successful cure rates of MDR-TB are low, around 54% (WHO Global TB report 2018). Multiple strategies have been considered or developed that could enhance host immune responses to efficiently handle TB infection. Basically, host-directed therapies can modulate TB immunity in three different ways, 1.) to increase effective elimination of Mtb bacteria, 2.) to limit excess inflammation and collateral tissue damage associated with TB and 3.) to interfere with host molecules that are required for bacterial replication and persistence (Kaufmann, Dorhoi et al. 2018). Targeting different aspects such as induction of autophagy, granuloma

formation, modulation of T cell responses, exogenous monoclonal antibodies against bacterial antigens and improved drug delivery, may become the future in developing personalized therapies for patients with different forms of TB (Figure 5). Inexpensive alternatives as host-directed therapies may represent immunomodulatory compounds such as vitamin  $D_3$  (Vit $D_3$ ), phenylbutyrate (PBA) or peanut (arginine) therapy, which have been shown to potentiate innate immunity in the host.



Host directed therapeutic approaches in TB

Figure 5. Approaches for host directed therapies in TB.

### 1.9.1 Vitamin D:

Apart from its well-known effects on bone health and calcium homeostasis, VitD<sub>3</sub> is famous for its immunomodulatory properties that have been investigated in a number of chronic diseases (Adams and Hewison 2008). VitD<sub>3</sub> is a fat-soluble vitamin synthesized in the skin upon sunlight exposure. VitD<sub>3</sub> exists as an inactive proform (25(OH)D<sub>3</sub>) that is converted to an active form (1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>) by hydroxylation. It is metabolized to 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> in the liver followed by further hydroxylation by 1- $\alpha$  hydroxylase to metabolically active vitD<sub>3</sub>, mainly in the kidney, but also in tissues and immune cells (Nair and Maseeh 2012, Bikle 2014).

VitD<sub>3</sub> is important for several physiological processes such as calcium and phosphorus absorption, cell proliferation and differentiation, insulin synthesis, angiogenesis, immunomodulation etc. These functions are mediated via the VitD<sub>3</sub> receptor (VDR), which is an intracellular receptor located in almost all the tissues in the human body (Nair and Maseeh

2012). Active VitD<sub>3</sub> exerts its effects by binding to the VDR, generating a transcription factor complex that can bind to VitD<sub>3</sub> response elements present in the DNA that could modulate the expression of several genes (Wang, Nestel et al. 2004, Gombart, Borregaard et al. 2005, Martineau, Wilkinson et al. 2007).

Circulating levels of  $25(OH)D_3$  in peripheral blood below 50 nmol/l is described as VitD<sub>3</sub> deficiency and is frequently observed in different populations, in different parts of the world, also in countries with a lot of sunshine. The major contributing factors for this deficiency include insufficient exposure to sunlight, inadequate diet, application of high percentage sunblock lotions, other chronic conditions such as liver or kidney diseases, or a natural protection due to a high melanin content in the skin (dark skin color) (Nair and Maseeh 2012).

Interestingly, polymorphisms in the VDR alone did not correlate with TB disease, but the genotype TT/Tt in combination with  $VitD_3$  deficiency was associated to development of disease and the genotype ff combined with undetectable levels of  $VitD_3$  had a strong correlation to disease (Wilkinson, Llewelyn et al. 2000).

From the era of sanatoria to the present days, research on VitD<sub>3</sub> as an immunomodulatory compound that could enhance clinical recovery from TB disease, has been extensively studied. Several *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies described the role of VitD<sub>3</sub> in control of TB infection (Brighenti, Bergman et al. 2018). With addition of VitD<sub>3</sub>, intracellular mycobacterial growth reduction was reported in human monocytes and macrophages (Rook, Steele et al. 1986, Crowle, Ross et al. 1987). Later on, it was found that VitD<sub>3</sub> induces antimicrobial activity in human Mtb-infected macrophages via the induction of LL-37, which reduced intracellular Mtb growth substantially (Liu, Stenger et al. 2007). VitD<sub>3</sub> deficiency is commonly observed in TB disease, although the cause and effect relationship is unclear. But maintaining sufficient levels of VitD<sub>3</sub> is likely beneficial for promoting host immunity and clinical recovery from TB. Supplementation of VitD<sub>3</sub> to standard anti-TB treatment have been shown to reduce the time to sputum conversion and improve TB treatment outcome including improvement in clinical symptoms and radiological features (Afzal, Rathore et al. 2018). However, several other clinical trials fail to show convincing effects of VitD<sub>3</sub> supplementation (Brighenti, Bergman et al. 2018). Importantly, VitD<sub>3</sub> can only be expected to result in significant effects if given to patients or individuals that are  $VitD_3$  deficient, as it would be difficult to supplement someone who already has optimal levels of VitD<sub>3</sub> (Martineau, Jolliffe et al. 2017). Moreover, the effects of VitD<sub>3</sub> is most likely dependent on the treatment regimen (no bolus dosing, but high doses should be administered frequently (Hollis and Wagner 2013).

VitD<sub>3</sub> is also implicated in tissue remodeling during Mtb infection, as VitD<sub>3</sub> treatment of PBMCs (Coussens, Timms et al. 2009) or in TB patients (Ong, Elkington et al. 2014) resulted in decreased MMP7. Moreover, people with deficient VitD<sub>3</sub> levels may be more susceptible or have a higher risk of contracting TB when exposed to people with active TB infection (Buonsenso, Sali et al. 2018). Several research groups have shown the ability of VitD<sub>3</sub> to induce antimicrobial peptides; LL-37 and defensins by human macrophages and thereby efficiently clearing intracellular bacteria. VitD<sub>3</sub> may also aid in overcoming several bacterial virulence mechanisms to survive in the host such as inhibition of autophagy, inhibition of fusion of lysosome and phagosome and decreased LL-37 production (Yuk, Shin et al. 2009, Rekha, Rao Muvva et al. 2015). Epigenetic changes such as methylation of VitD<sub>3</sub> genes enhance the risk of TB disease and poor prognosis (Wang, Kong et al. 2018).

#### 1.9.2 Phenylbutyrate:

PBA is a registered drug for urea cycle disorders as a scavenger for ammonia (Batshaw, MacArthur et al. 2001). PBA is a short chain fatty acid and a histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitor. This means that PBA could unwind the chromatin and facilitate binding of transcription factors to the VDR response elements in the DNA to allow the transcription of target genes such as LL-37. PBA has been demonstrated to be a potent inducer of LL-37 in macrophages and lung epithelial cells (Steinmann, Halldorsson et al. 2009). PBA restricts the phagocytic receptor expression and uptake of Mtb in macrophages and further act as a bacteriostatic agent against Mtb in broth cultures (Coussens, Wilkinson et al. 2015). Together with VitD<sub>3</sub>, PBA has a synergistic effect on the induction of LL-37 in Mtb-infected macrophages and thereby enhance intracellular killing of Mtb bacteria (Coussens, Wilkinson et al. 2015, Rekha, Rao Muvva et al. 2015).

Thus, adjunctive immunotherapy using VitD<sub>3</sub> and PBA is an attractive approach to enhance the efficacy of standard anti-TB treatment, to shorten the duration of treatment, to reduce sideeffects induced by the standard drugs and to increase treatment compliance to prevent MDR-TB. It will be interesting to study whether adjuvant therapy along with standard chemotherapy can elicit a better host response towards the infection and achieve a better clinical outcome (Mily, Rekha et al. 2015, Bekele, Gebreselassie et al. 2018).

## 2 AIMS, MATERIALS AND METHODS

### 2.1 AIMS

The specific aims of this thesis were:

**Study I:** To study the role of novel inducers of antimicrobial peptides, PBA and VitD<sub>3</sub>, on the activation of autophagy in Mtb-infected human macrophages.

**Study II:** To investigate the contribution of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) in Mtb growth and early granuloma formation in a novel organotypic 3D-lung tissue model.

**Study III:** To explore the effect of PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> on intracellular growth of MDR-TB and the induction of antimicrobial effector responses in human macrophages alone or in combination with first-line anti-TB drugs.

**Study IV:** To study the phenotype and ability of human macrophages polarized with  $VitD_3$  to control intracellular Mtb growth compared with polarization of conventional M1 and M2 macrophage subsets.

#### 2.2 Background on disease models of TB infection

Even after decades of research in TB, pathogenesis in humans is not clearly understood. Despite the advancements in research infrastructure and technology, there are many questions still unanswered in the field, and one of the main reasons behind this challenge is the lack of proper disease model(s) to study human TB. Most studies on TB are conducted in mice, which fundamentally does not represent human disease (Gupta and Katoch 2005). Mice do not form well-organized or necrotic TB granulomas, there are no multinucleated giant cells and the effector mechanisms used to control TB are different from humans, ie. mainly dependent on iNOS/NO, while a murine homologue for granulysin is missing. Other widely used models in the TB research include guinea pig (Fok, Ho et al. 1976, Kashino, Napolitano et al. 2008), rabbits (Manabe, Dannenberg et al. 2003), rats (Elwood, Wilson et al. 2007), and zebra fish (Ramakrishnan 2013), but all these models display a disease that is profoundly different from human TB. The only animal model, which closely reflects the human disease, is the non-human primate (Flynn, Capuano et al. 2003), but this model involves high running costs, big infrastructure and also ethical considerations. On the other hand, experiments with single-cell cultures from humans, most often involve cells derived from blood as this is the most easy accessible clinical sample (Brighenti and Andersson 2012). This enables simplified in vitro infection models, but cannot provide the complex physiological environment corresponding to the site of Mtb infection in human tissue. Recently, Dr. Mattias Svensson and his group have developed an organotypic lung tissue model that mimics human lung tissue (Nguyen Hoang, Chen et al. 2012), which has proven useful to study early TB granuloma formation (Parasa, Rahman et al. 2014). This model uses epithelial and fibroblast cell lines that after air-exposure and cell stratification, can be cultured together with human primary monocytes and differentiated macrophages, in a bed of bovine collagen. In this model, macrophage responses including early granuloma formation can be studied in the presence and absence of different Mtb strains (see description below).

#### 2.3 Materials and methods

The project outline of this thesis is based on studies of innate immune responses in human macrophages infected with different strains of Mtb (Figure 6). Monocyte-derived macrophages (MDMs) were obtained from healthy donor buffy coat blood and infected with the 1.) laboratory strain H37Rv, or 2.) MDR-TB or drug-susceptible Mtb strains isolated from patients with active TB. Study I and III involves studies on the responses of Mtb-infected macrophages after treatment with PBA, VitD<sub>3</sub> or PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> *in vitro*. Study II explores the response of Mtb-infected macrophages in an organotypic 3D-lung tissue

model, while Study IV focus on macrophage polarization and Mtb growth after stimulation with different growth factors *in vitro*. In Study II and IV, lung tissue biopsies obtained from patients with active pulmonary TB were also used to confirm mRNA or protein expression determined *in vitro*.

mRNA expression in cells or lung tissue was quantified using quantitative real-time PCR. Protein expression and distribution was studied by staining Mtb-infected macrophages or tissues with fluorescent dyes or conjugated antibodies that were assessed using *in situ* computerized image analysis or fluorescence microscopy. Intracellular Mtb bacteria, was monitored by flow cytometry or confocal microscopy while Mtb growth was determined using colony forming unit (CFU) counts but also the MGIT assay.

In summary, the following techniques were used to study the responses of Mtb-infected macrophages *in vitro*:

- Quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR): Study I-IV
- Immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy: Study I, II and III
- Colony forming units: Study I, III and IV
- Immunohistochemistry and *in situ* image analysis: Study II
- Western blot: Study I
- Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA): Study I
- Luciferase assay: Study II
- Cytometric bead array: Study II
- Mycobacteria Growth Inhibitor Tube (MGIT) assay: Study III
- Small interfering (si) RNA silencing of primary cells: Study III
- Flow cytometry: Study IV

All work with virulent Mtb including H37Rv and clinical Mtb isolates was performed at a biosafety level 3 (BSL-3) laboratory at the Public Health Agency of Sweden (FOHM) (Study I, III and IV) or at a BSL-3 laboratory at Linköping University (Study II). Mtb-infected cells or tissues were chemically inactivated before transfer to a BSL-2 laboratory for further analysis.

A brief description of materials and methods is given below, while a detailed methodological description is given in the 'Materials and methods' sections of the respective studies.



**Figure 6.** *In vitro* macrophage infection model: Macrophages derived from monocytes were infected with Mtb and treated with PBA and  $VitD_3$  in the presence or absence of anti TB drugs.

#### 2.3.1 Cell cultures:

Blood mononuclear cells were isolated from peripheral blood samples (Study II) or buffy coat blood (Study I, III and IV) obtained from healthy donors using ficoll-hypaque density gradient centrifugation. Monocytes were retrieved using beads coated with human CD14 antibodies (Study II) or using plastic adherence (Study I, III and IV). Monocytes were differentiated into macrophages in the presence of RPMI containing 50 ng/ml of MCSF (Study I, III and IV) or 50 ng/mL of GMCSF (Study IV) or pooled human serum (Study II). In Study IV, macrophages differentiated until day 6, were polarized for 18 hours using, 10 nm of  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ , 50 ng/mL of IFN- $\gamma$  and 10 ng/mL of LPS or 20 ng/mL of IL-4.

In addition, the human monocytic cell line THP-1 was used to generate macrophage like cells using 10 ng/ml of PMA in Study I. For the setup of the organotypic lung tissue model, the human lung fibroblast cell line MRC5 and the human bronchial epithelial cell line 16HBE were used (Study II).

#### 2.3.2 Bacterial cultures:

The standard laboratory strain of virulent Mtb, H37Rv, was used in most experiments, either as wild type or expressing GFP (green-fluorescent protein) (Mtb-GFP) or luciferase (Mtb-lux). Mtb-GFP enabled visualization of bacteria with confocal microscopy (Study II) or flow cytometry (Study IV), while Mtb-lux enabled assessment of bacterial replication (Study II). For Study III, clinical isolates obtained from patients with MDR-TB or drug-susceptible TB, were kindly provided by our collaborators at FOHM. MDR-TB strains were resistant against one or several first line and/or second line anti-TB drugs as described (Study III). Macrophages were infected at an MOI 5 or 10.
#### 2.3.3 Human organotypic lung tissue model:

A protocol for productive mycobacterial infection of human primary macrophages cultured in a 3D lung tissue model was previously set up by our group and collaborators (Braian, Svensson et al. 2015). The model is composed of lung fibroblasts (MRC-5, a human lung fibroblast cell line) and epithelial cells (16HBE, a human bronchial epithelial cell line), which are cultured on a collagen matrix and air-lifted to initiate stratification of the epithelial cell layer. Before air-exposure, primary MDMs derived from healthy blood donors and differentiated with pooled human serum, were infected with Mtb-GFP and cultured together with uninfected monocytes in the model for 7 days. PKH26 red dye-labeled monocytes and Mtb-GFP could be visualized and quantified using confocal microscopy. At day 7, the models were harvested and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 30min, while culture supernatants were collected and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C for cytokine and chemokine analysis.

#### 2.3.4 Inhibitors:

Before infection with Mtb, macrophages were treated for 2 hours or 16-20 hours with inhibitors (<u>underlined</u>) of different receptors and pathways: <u>KN62</u> (inhibition of P2X7R, Study I and III), <u>oxATP</u> (inhibition of P2X7R, Study III), <u>BAPTA-AM</u> (intracellular calcium-specific chelator, Study I), <u>Compound C</u> (ATP-competitive inhibitor of AMP-activated protein kinase, Study I), <u>3-MA</u> (inhibition of the PtdIns3K pathway, Study I), <u>Marimastat</u> (inhibition of MMPs, Study II), <u>L-NMMA</u> (inhibition of iNOS, Study III) and <u>NAC</u> (scavenger of free radicals including ROS enzymes, Study III).

#### 2.3.5 Knockdown/silencing of CAMP:

THP-1 cells were knocked down for the expression of the CAMP gene using short hairpin RNA (shRNA) by a transient transfection method (Study I). Silencing of macrophages for CAMP gene expression in primary macrophages was done using small interference RNA (siRNA) from the silencer select siRNA kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Study III).

#### 2.3.6 Quantitative PCR:

mRNA was extracted from macrophages (Study I-IV) or the organotypic lung tissue model (Study II) or patient lung tissue (Study II and IV) using the ribopure kit from ambion and synthesis of cDNA was done by superscript vilo according to manufacturer's instructions. Thin cryosections (2x50 microns) were obtained from the lung tissue model or patient tissue that were used for the mRNA isolation. Gene transcripts for the described target genes relative to the house-keeping gene 18s rRNA was measured by RT-PCR. Gene expression

was calculated as fold change against untreated Mtb-infected cells (Study I and III), or uninfected tissues (Study II) or uninfected cells (Study IV).

#### 2.3.7 ELISA and western blot:

Release of the LL-37 peptide in the supernatants of Mtb-infected macrophages was measured using an LL-37 specific ELISA (Study I). Protein levels of LL-37, ATG5, BECLIN 1 and p62 in Mtb-infected macrophage cell extracts and cell culture supernatants were detected by western blot analysis (Study I).

#### 2.3.8 Microscopy:

#### 2.3.8.1 Immunohistochemistry and light microscopy:

In Study II, organotypic lung tissue models or patient lung biopsies were snap frozen in OCT using liquid nitrogen and were stored at -80°C. 8 µm thick sections were cut in a cryostat and fixed for 15 min with 4% formalin. Tissues were stained with primary antibodies and HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies as described in Study II. Stained proteins in the tissue were visualized after development of peroxidase activity detected as a brown color. Protein expression *in situ* was quantified using computerized image analyses (Leica Qwin software) and presented as the % positively stained area in the total cell area.

#### 2.3.8.2 Fluorescent staining and confocal microscopy:

In Study II, granuloma formation in the organotypic lung tissue model was assessed by visualizing PKH26-stained macrophage clusters (red) together with GFP-labelled H37Rv bacteria (green) (Study II). Quantification of the granulomas were performed by determining the MFI (mean fluorescence intensity) in selected regions of interest with and without bacteria, respectively. Clustering of monocytes/macrophages at the site of infection was expressed as the ratio of the MFIs determined in ROIs with and without bacteria (Zeiss LSM700 Confocal system and Nikon software).

In Study I, MDMs were seeded in so called chamber slides (chambered microscope slide) that enabled us to grow the cells in the presence or absence of PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> before the grid was removed to continue with fluorescent staining and examination with confocal microscopy. Co-localization of the autophagy marker LC3-II with LL-37 was assessed in THP-1 cells or Mtb-infected macrophages including quantification of LC3 puncta (Olympus confocal microscope and the image J software).

#### 2.3.9 Flow cytometry:

#### 2.3.9.1 Cytokine bead array (CBA):

In study II, cytokines and chemokines in supernatants from uninfected or Mtb-infected lung tissue models were quantified using a commercial cytokine bead array kit from BD. Data was acquired on a Gallios flow cytometer and was analyzed with the kaluza analysis software.

#### 2.3.9.2 Cell surface markers:

In Study IV, detection and quantification of different molecules and receptors expressed on the surface of uninfected and Mtb-infected macrophages was performed by extracellular staining using fluorescent conjugated anti-human antibodies. CD68, which is mainly an intracellular protein expressed in macrophages, was stained intracellularly using BD cytofix/permeabilization kit. Data was acquired on a BD LSR Fortessa flow cytometer and was analyzed with the FlowJo v.9 analysis software. Uninfected macrophages were separated from Mtb-infected macrophages based on expression of Mtb-GFP that was visualized in the FITC channel.

#### 2.3.10 Bacterial growth:

#### 2.3.10.1 Luciferase assay:

In Study II, bacterial replication was measured as fold change from day one compared to day seven by detecting the luciferase activity of Mtb-lux, both in cell culture supernatants (extracellular Mtb-lux) and cellular extracts (intracellular Mtb-lux) from Mtb-infected macrophages.

#### 2.3.10.2 MGIT assay:

In Study IV, extracellular bacterial growth rates of clinical Mtb isolates and H37Rv were monitored in MGIT tubes and expressed as fluorescence units. The **MGIT 960** instrument is a fully automated mycobacterial detecting system that exploits the fluorescence of an oxygen sensor to detect growth of mycobacteria in culture.

#### 2.3.10.3 Colony forming units (CFU):

In Study I, III and IV, intracellular bacterial growth was determined using CFU counts. Mtbinfected macrophages were lysed with water containing SDS. Serial dilutions were made from the extract and plated on 7H9 middle brooks agar plates. Growth of intracellular bacteria was measured by counting the colony forming units after 21 to 28 days. CFU counts is the golden standard for detection and quantification of Mtb growth.

#### 2.4 Statistical analyses

A normality test was performed on all data sets using D' Agostino's K-squared test and Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Normally distributed data was analyzed using parametric tests whereas small data sets or data that did not pass the normality test(s) was analyzed using non-parametric tests to determine the level of significance.

Comparison between two groups was done using:

- Parametric analyses: unpaired or paired t-test
- Non-parametric analyses: Mann-Whitney U test or Wilcoxon signed-rank test

Comparison between multiple groups was done using:

- Parametric analyses: one-way ANOVA or Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's post-test
- Non-parametric analyses: Friedman's test

Comparisons between multiple groups influenced by two independent variables were done using 2-way ANOVA. Correlation analyses was done using Spearman's correlation test.

Data was presented as mean and standard deviation or median and interquartile range (IQR). Statistical analyses was done using Graphpad prism, version 6.0 (Graphpad prism software, San Diego, CA).

#### 2.5 Ethical considerations

#### Study I, III and IV:

Buffy coats were obtained from healthy donors recruited at the Karolinska University Hospital blood bank, Stockholm, Sweden (EPN dnr: 2010/603-31/4). Blood samples were also obtained from healthy donors at Linköping University Hospital, but ethical permit was not required for collection of peripheral blood from these healthy anonymous donors.

#### Study II and IV:

Lung tissue biopsies from pathological and non-pathological regions were obtained from Russian TB patients. In the study, patients were recruited after signed and informed consent and approval from the local and Swedish ethical boards in Russia and Stockholm (EPN dnr: 238/02).

### **3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

All original tables, figures and graphs discussed in this section can be found in Paper I-IV included at the end of this thesis.

#### 3.1 STUDY I

#### 3.1.1 Background

Before the discovery of effective anti-TB drugs, heliotherapy or open-air treatment was often offered to TB patients and clinical improvement was frequently reported (McCarthy 2001). The enhanced clinical recovery may be attributed to the sunshine hormone, VitD<sub>3</sub>, and its metabolites to induce microbial immune defense pathways. While VitD<sub>3</sub> has a key function in the regulation of bone health, the role of  $VitD_3$  in controlling human infections such as TB is not clear. The hand-full of randomized clinical trials that have tested the effects of VitD<sub>3</sub> in TB show conflicting results (Brighenti, Bergman et al. 2018), but have mostly failed to demonstrate positive effects on clinical or microbiological outcomes (Wejse, Gomes et al. 2009, Martineau, Timms et al. 2011, Ganmaa, Munkhzul et al. 2017). Contrary, in vitro studies have provided convincing evidence that VitD<sub>3</sub> can enhance killing of intracellular Mtb in macrophages via induction of LL-37 (Liu, Stenger et al. 2006, Liu, Stenger et al. 2007). These differences between in vivo and in vitro studies might be multifactorial such as ethnicity, polymorphism in genes encoding VitD3 metabolism or life style (Brighenti, Bergman et al. 2018). Other potent inducers of LL-37 have been shown to involve shortchain fatty acids including butyrate and PBA (Raqib, Sarker et al. 2006, Gudmundsson, Bergman et al. 2010). Previous studies found that short-chain fatty acids such as butyrate could improve clinical and pathological features of shigellosis in a rabbit model (Rabbani, Albert et al. 1999, Ragib, Sarker et al. 2006, Gudmundsson, Bergman et al. 2010). Later on, it was also discovered that PBA could induce LL-37 in lung epithelial cells and importantly, there was a synergistic effect between PBA and VitD<sub>3</sub> on LL-37 expression (Steinmann, Halldorsson et al. 2009).

Study I and III of this thesis work, was part of collaboration in an international consortium that aimed to explore the antimicrobial effects of PBA and VitD<sub>3</sub> in the induction of mucosal immunity. Now, we were interested to explore the effects of PBA on intracellular killing of Mtb and if PBA could be used together with VitD<sub>3</sub> to enhance potential anti-mycobacterial effects in Mtb-infected macrophages.

### 3.1.2 Mtb-mediated down-regulation of LL-37 expression in human primary macrophages can be counteracted by PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub>

In Study I, we tested the effects of PBA, VitD<sub>3</sub> or the combination of PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> on human Mtb-infected macrophages. Initially, we observed that mRNA expression of the CAMP gene encoding LL-37, was down-regulated human macrophages after *in vitro* infection with virulent Mtb (H37Rv) (Figure 7). In addition, a decrease in protein levels of the LL-37 peptide was detected in Mtb-infected cells. Down-regulation of LL-37 at mucosal sites has also been demonstrated in other infections. It was recently reported that chronic periodontitis causing bacteria, *Porphyromonas gingivais*, could down-regulate LL-37 production in gingival epithelial cells (Tada, Shimizu et al. 2017). Similarly, LL-37 was down-regulated in the rectal epithelium of patients infected with the intracellular bacteria Shigella (Islam, Bandholtz et al. 2001) and it was also shown that the rabbit homologue of cathelicidin, CAP-18 (Cathelidin Antimicrobial Peptide), was down-regulated in the mucosal epithelia in the lung and intestine of rabbits with shigellosis (Sarker, Ahmed et al. 2011). These studies suggested that down-regulation of LL-37 expression at the site of infection may be an immune evasion mechanism used by different bacteria.



Figure 7. Mtb infection down regulates the production of LL-37 in macrophages.

Interestingly, butyrate was shown to up-regulate LL-37 expression in colonic epithelial cells *in vitro* (Schauber, Svanholm et al. 2003). In *shigellosis*, mucosal CAP-18 expression could be restored after oral treatment with PBA (Sarker, Ahmed et al. 2011) or butyrate (Raqib, Sarker et al. 2006), which resulted in reduced clinical illness and reduced inflammation. Likewise, adjunct butyrate treatment to patients with shigellosis resulted in an early reduction of inflammation and enhanced LL-37 expression in the rectal epithelia (Raqib, Sarker et al. 2012). In Study I, we showed that a combination of PBA and VitD<sub>3</sub> up-regulated the expression of LL-37 at substantially higher levels when compared to treatment with either

PBA or VitD<sub>3</sub> alone. A corresponding decrease of intracellular Mtb growth was detected in the presence of PBA or VitD<sub>3</sub>, while Mtb growth was further reduced upon combined treatment with PBA and VitD<sub>3</sub>. Therefore, treatment of Mtb-infected macrophages with PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> could prevent down-regulation of LL-37 and instead resulted in a potent expression of LL-37 that was associated with reduced Mtb growth in infected macrophages. Our group has previously found that VitD<sub>3</sub> deficient MDR-TB patients expressed low levels of LL-37 *in situ* in granulomatous tissue obtained from Mtb-infected lungs (Rahman, Rehn et al. 2015). Moreover, plasma 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> levels correlated with local LL-37 expression in granulomatous lesions in TB infected lymph nodes (Ashenafi, Mazurek et al. 2018), which suggest that VitD<sub>3</sub> status could be important for antimicrobial activity at the site of Mtb infection.

# 3.1.3 Activation of autophagy in Mtb-infected macrophages by PBA and VitD<sub>3</sub> treatment is dependent on LL-37

Autophagy is a physiological process known to be important for the elimination of intracellular pathogens such as Mtb (Gutierrez, Master et al. 2004). It has been shown that MDR-TB strains such as the Beijing genotype strains, are resistant to killing by autophagy by inhibiting the autophagosome and lysosome fusion (Haque, Boonhok et al. 2015). In addition, microRNA 155 induced by virulent Mtb can down-regulate autophagy by decreasing the expression of the autophagy protein Atg3 and the number of autophagosomes in dendritic cells (Etna, Sinigaglia et al. 2018). These studies suggest that Mtb has evolved strategies to hijack autophagy in different cell types to promote intracellular survival. In line with these findings, it had previously been determined that VitD<sub>3</sub> could kill intracellular Mtb by activation of autophagy in infected macrophages (Yuk, Shin et al. 2009). To investigate if autophagy contributed to reduced Mtb growth upon treatment with PBA and VitD<sub>3</sub>, we studied the activation of autophagy using the autophagy related genes Beclin 1, Atg5 and LC3II. While Beclin 1 initiates the formation of the autophagosome, Atg5 is involved in the elongation of the autophagosome and LC3II is a marker of the mature autophagosome (Figure 8). mRNA expression and protein levels of both Beclin 1 and Atg5, were significantly down-regulated in Mtb-infected macrophages. Interestingly, this reduction was effectively counteracted by PBA and VitD<sub>3</sub> treatment. Likewise, evidence of elevated autophagic activity in PBA and/or VitD<sub>3</sub> treated Mtb-infected cells was visualized by detection of enhanced intracellular LC3 expression that co-localized with LL-37. This was also supported by an enhanced conversion of LC3I (cytosol) to LC3II (autophagosome membrane) as detected by western blot.



Figure 8. Mtb clearance by autophagy mechanism: Multiple steps and genes involved in the autophagy process.

To dissect the role of LL-37 in the activation of autophagy, we knocked down the CAMP gene encoding LL-37, in the macrophage cell line THP-1 by using shRNA and treated the cells with PBA and/or VitD<sub>3</sub>. Interestingly, shRNA transfected THP-1 cells expressed significantly lower mRNA levels of *Beclin 1* and *Atg5* compared to mock shRNA-transfected cells, and also failed to induce the LC3 protein in Mtb-infected macrophages. These results suggested that PBA- and VitD<sub>3</sub>-induced autophagy in Mtb-infected macrophages was dependent on the up-regulation of LL-37.

# 3.1.4 LL-37 activates macrophage autophagy in an autocrine or paracrine manner via the P2X7 receptor

To understand how LL-37 contributed to the induction of autophagy in Mtb-infected cells, a neutralizing antibody for LL-37 was added to the Mtb-infected cells in the presence or absence of PBA and/or VitD<sub>3</sub>. This experiment revealed that autophagy was not activated in the cell cultures depleted of LL-37. Next, we explored the receptors involved in this mechanism. It was earlier demonstrated that LL-37 could bind to and activate the P2X7 receptor (P2X7R) on monocytes, leading to release of pro-inflammatory IL-1 $\beta$  (Elssner, Duncan et al. 2004). The P2X7R is a purinergic receptor involved in many cellular processes of macrophages involving cytokine secretion and inflammation (Elssner, Duncan et al. 2004). So, we blocked P2X7R by pretreating the macrophages with KN62, which revealed that autophagy was not activated. This suggested that LL-37, secreted by PBA and/or VitD<sub>3</sub> treated and Mtb-infected macrophages, needs to be taken up by the macrophages via P2X7R to activate autophagy (Tang, Basavarajappa et al. 2015). This result could also explain how LL-37 can be produced by other immune cells such as neutrophils that can lead to activation of autophagy in macrophages (Sorensen, Follin et al. 2001).

It is known that intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>, PI3 kinase and AMP kinase pathways are involved in the activation of autophagy (Heras-Sandoval, Perez-Rojas et al. 2014, Hoyer-Hansen and Jaattela

2007). To further elucidate the down-stream signaling of the P2X7R, we blocked all the above pathways using BAPTA-AM, Compound C and 3-MA, respectively, by pre-treatment of macrophages before Mtb infection and stimulation with PBA and/or VitD<sub>3</sub>. Intriguingly, we found that all these three signaling pathways were involved in the activation of autophagy induced via LL-37. Altogether, the results from Study I demonstrated that Mtb can down-regulate LL-37 expression and also prevent the activation of autophagy in infected macrophages, and thereby avoid intracellular killing. Treatment with PBA and/or VitD<sub>3</sub> can circumvent these blockades and induce LL-37 expression as well as autophagy in Mtb-infected cells (Manjelievskaia, Erck et al.) (Figure 9).



**Figure 9.** Infected macrophage response to PBA and VitD<sub>3</sub>: Mtb infected macrophage treated with PBA and VitD<sub>3</sub> in the presence or absence of RIF or INH enhances intracellular Mtb clearance by LL-37 and autophagy.

#### 3.2 STUDY III

#### 3.2.1 Background

Simultaneously as we worked with Study I, our research constellation had conducted two clinical trials to investigate the effects of adjunct treatment with PBA and VitD<sub>3</sub> in patients with pulmonary TB. One study was conducted in Dhaka Bangladesh (Mily, Rekha et al. 2015) and the other one was conducted in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia (Bekele, Gebreselassie et al. 2018), following slightly different study protocols. The results showed significant effects on reduction of clinical TB symptoms as well as reduced sputum-microscopy conversion. But as PBA and VitD<sub>3</sub> had to be administered together with standard anti-TB drugs used for treatment of drug-susceptible TB, we developed an interest to study the effects of

PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> on 1.) MDR-TB and also 2.) the interaction of PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> with first-line anti-TB drugs, RIF and INH. Therefore, we proceeded with Study III, aiming to explore the effects of PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> on a panel of MDR-TB strains with different resistance patterns to various anti-TB drugs. Since we had observed potent synergistic or additive effects on LL-37 expression in human macrophages induced by different concentrations of PBA and/or VitD<sub>3</sub> (Steinmann, Halldorsson et al. 2009, Rekha, Rao Muvva et al. 2015), we decided to use combination treatment of PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> at a fixed concentration to enable the work in this study. In addition, we decided to focus on the two most important anti-TB drugs included in first-line chemotherapy, RIF and INH. Two concentrations of the drugs were chosen based on the wild-type distribution of the MIC (minimal inhibitory concentration) values determined for extracellular growth inhibition of a number of Mtb isolates (Schon, Jureen et al. 2009). Thus, we used a high but physiological concentration as well as a lower, sub-inhibitory concentration of RIF and INH, respectively, to be able to study potential effects on drug interactions with PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub>.

We had access to unique clinical isolates, three drug-susceptible strains and twelve drugresistant strains from our collaboration with FOHM (Table 1). Initially, we cultured the isolates in LJ medium and observed that two strains were growing very slowly and some exhibited different colony morphology, reflecting the variability of naturally occurring Mtb isolates. Next, we started the cumbersome work to infect primary MDMs with the different Mtb strains to test the growth inhibitory effects of PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> in the presence or absence of RIF or INH. Typically, we could set up the different conditions with MDMs obtained from two donors and divide the experiment in mRNA analysis and CFU counts.

| Table 1. M. tuberculosis strains          | No. of isolates |
|---|-----------------|
| Laboratory strain H37Rv (golden standard) |                 |
| Drug-susceptible                          | 3               |
| RIF mono-resistant                        | 1               |
| INH mono-resistant                        | 3               |
| RIF+INH resistant (MDR-TB)                | 2               |
| Other MDR-TB (RIF+EMB+PZA and ETH or OFX) | 3               |
| XDR-TB                                    | 3               |

#### 3.2.2 PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> reduced intracellular growth of MDR-TB as well as drugsusceptible Mtb strains and possessed additive effects together with RIF and INH

Our first observation was that PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> had a very potent effect on killing of both MDR-TB as well as drug-susceptible Mtb strains (median 39.8%). There was an additive effect on Mtb killing using a combination of PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> and RIF and particularly INH (Figure 10). In fact, this additive effect was relatively stronger on MDR-TB growth than on growth of drugsusceptible strains, which suggested that PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> could compensate for the loss of effect of the antibiotics (due to drug resistance) on MDR-TB growth. Contrary, PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> treatment of MDMs infected with the drug-susceptible Mtb strains did not enhance the effects of high-dose RIF and INH to a similar extent, probably because the standard drugs alone were very efficient in Mtb killing. One problem in the clinical PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> trials (Mily, Rekha et al. 2015, Bekele, Gebreselassie et al. 2018), was that these compounds had to be given together with already very effective antibiotics. Therefore, in these trials it was only possible to study the PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub>-mediated effects on top of the standard drugs, providing a risk that any true effects of PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> could be masked. The initial 8-week intensive-phase standard treatment with RIF and INH results in rapidly reduced bacterial loads in the lung and bacterial clearance from sputum in more than 80% of patients with drug-susceptible TB (Parikh, Nataraj et al. 2012, Nahid, Dorman et al. 2016). In contrast, according to the WHO, the treatment success rates for MDR-TB is considerably lower, around 54% (WHO, Global TB report 2018). Therefore, our findings of an additive effect between PBA+VitD3 and especially high-dose INH on intracellular killing of MDR-TB strains, suggested that PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> supplementation may have a superior effect as adjunct treatment to support less efficient second-line drugs used to treat MDR-TB.



Figure 10. Enhanced LC3 punta in H37Rv infected macrophages with high dose INH and PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub>.

In addition to their bactericidal or bacteriostatic actions, RIF (Tentori, Graziani et al. 1998, Liang, Zhou et al. 2017) and INH (Kim, Lee et al. 2012) may possess immunomodulatory

functions such as enhanced expression of antigen-presenting molecules or induction of autophagy. Confocal microscopy revealed that high-dose RIF or INH significantly increased the levels of LC3 puncta, which was further enhanced in the presence of PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub>. It was previously reported that INH or pyrazinamide can induce autophagy and ROS, resulting in reduced intracellular load of *Mycobacterium marinum* (Kim, Lee et al. 2012). Furthermore, it was shown that autophagy is essential for an optimal effect of the drugs on bacterial killing (Kim, Lee et al. 2012). These results hold promise for using PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> as adjunct therapy to support the new nine-month short-course treatment regimen for MDR-TB (seven drugs supplemented with high-dose INH) as recommended by the WHO (Moodley, Godec et al. 2016).

# 3.2.3 PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub>-mediated inhibition of intracellular growth of MDR-TB or H37Rv is dependent on LL-37

The second major observation in Study III was that PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> alone or in combination with low or high doses of RIF or INH up-regulated mRNA expression, primarily of LL-37 but also of human  $\beta$ -defensin-1, in MDMs infected with MDR-TB or the drug-susceptible strains. This increase in mRNA expression was slightly more pronounced in the INH-treated groups. Basal mRNA expression of LL-37 and  $\beta$ -defensin-1 was also up-regulated by RIF or INH alone, but to a much lower extent compared with PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> treatment. We also observed an up-regulated mRNA expression of the enzymes involved in NO and ROS production (iNOS and DUOX2), but DUOX2 mRNA expression was not specific to PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> treatment. Treatment of H37Ra-infected MDMs with active VitD<sub>3</sub> were previously shown to result in enhanced mRNA and protein levels of iNOS, but primarily in the presence of IFN $\gamma$  (Lee, Yang et al. 2009). It has also been reported that INH can induce ROS activity, which is involved in *Mycobacterium marinum* clearance in a drosophila model (Kim, Lee et al. 2012). But inhibition of iNOS or ROS activity using L-NMMA or NAC, receptively, did not prevent PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub>-mediated reduction of intracellular Mtb growth, which suggested that PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> is not dependent on these effectors for bacterial killing.

Although ROS is not considered as one of the major pathways involved in TB control, Mtb can induce the production of ROS in human macrophages that has been shown to enhance bacterial clearance (Lv, He et al. 2017). The iNOS pathway has been shown to play an important role in control of Mtb infection in the mouse model of TB (Scanga, Mohan et al. 2001), while the effect of NO in humans is more controversial. Our group and others have demonstrated expression of iNOS and the NO metabolite nitrotyrosine in macrophages located in Mtb-infected tissues from patients (Schon, Elmberger et al. 2004, Rahman, Gudetta

et al. 2009, Rahman, Rehn et al. 2015). But it is difficult to induce expression of iNOS and NO in human cells *in vitro*, which may be dependent on the source and stimuli of human macrophages (Nicholson, Bonecini-Almeida Mda et al. 1996, Jagannath, Actor et al. 1998, Thomas and Mattila 2014). Clinical studies using nutritional supplementation with the iNOS substrate arginine, have demonstrated that enhanced NO may contribute to some protective effects in clinical TB (Schon, Elias et al. 2003, Schon, Idh et al. 2011).

To date, there is no specific chemical inhibitor of LL-37. Instead, similar to Study I, we attempted to inhibit the uptake of LL-37 by blocking P2X7R using KN62 or oxATP. This receptor has been shown to regulate the internalization of LL-37 into human macrophages (Tang, Basavarajappa et al. 2015). Blocking P2X7R resulted in slightly elevated Mtb growth in some of the tested conditions, but these results were not very clear. It is possible that inhibition of LL-37 uptake inhibit some intracellular effects mediated by exogenous LL-37, while the endogenous production and function of LL-37 is not prevented by P2X7R blockade. We then decided to use a more specific method for inhibition of LL-37 function, by silencing of the CAMP gene in primary MDMs using siRNA. Gene silencing using siRNA in primary macrophages may be difficult due to their active nuclease machinery, but we managed to optimize a protocol for LL-37 gene silencing that maintained cell viability also after Mtb infection. siRNA transfection abrogated PBA+VitD3-induced mRNA expression of LL-37 to a great extent, which resulted in a corresponding enhancement of intracellular growth of both MDR-TB and H37Rv after treatment with PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub>. Consistent with this finding, we observed that autophagy was inhibited when we knocked down the expression of LL-37 in THP-1 cells in Study I (Rekha, Rao Muvva et al. 2015). Accordingly, lack of LL-37 expression seems to abolish the activity of PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> to induce autophagy (Study I) and to execute intracellular killing of Mtb (Study I and III) in human macrophages.

#### 3.2.4 The role of bacterial fitness in MDR-TB

The former dogma suggest that drug-resistance mutations provide a fitness cost for Mtb, which would reduce the ability of MDR-TB strains to spread successfully in humans (Muller, Borrell et al. 2013). Accordingly, previous findings from our group demonstrated that the susceptibility of MDR-TB strains to antimicrobial peptides was significantly higher among slow-growing MDR-TB strains with a reduced fitness phenotype (Toro, Hoffner et al. 2006). But more recent studies have shown that MDR-TB strains can acquire compensatory mutations that will restore or enhance bacterial fitness during evolution (Maisnier-Patin and Andersson 2004, Muller, Borrell et al. 2013). As such, the MDR-TB strains tested in Study III, had similar or faster growth rates compared with H37Rv, which could indicate well-

preserved fitness. Genome sequencing data also illustrated that some of the MDR-TB strains possessed compensatory mutations in the bacterial RNA polymerase (*rpoA* and *rpoC*) or in the alkyl hydroperoxide reductase (*ahpC*) subunit. It has been shown that some clinical Mtb strains possess reduced susceptibility to reactive nitrogen species (Barberger-Gateau, Jutand et al.), which promotes survival in activated macrophages (Idh, Andersson et al. 2017). Furthermore, a significant association was observed between reduced susceptibility to NO and resistance against first-line anti-TB drugs, in particular INH (Idh, Mekonnen et al. 2012). Another study reported that reduced susceptibility of mycobacteria to RNI in vitro, correlated with the virulence of these strains in guinea pigs (O'Brien, Carmichael et al. 1994). Similar mechanisms may promote transmissibility of hypervirulent MDR-TB strains such as the Beijing genotype family (Li, Jiao et al. 2016). An increasing prevalence of the Beijing strains in many parts of the world suggest that these possess an enhanced bacterial pathogenicity, which is reinforced by the ability of hypervirulent MDR-TB to modulate protective immunity (Manca, Reed et al. 2004, Reed, Domenech et al. 2004, Hanekom, Gey van Pittius et al. 2011). Altogether, these studies suggest that is important that novel immunotherapeutic drugs such as PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> maintain effectivity against Mtb strains with enhanced fitness phenotypes.

#### 3.3 STUDY II

#### 3.3.1 Background

A strength of the experimental setup used in this thesis, was that primary MDMs obtained from a number of donors, were used to study macrophage responses and intracellular Mtb growth (Figure 11). However, a limitation of this *in vitro* Mtb infection model, is its simplified nature that enable reproducible results from several donors, but do not take into account the tissue microenvironment at the site of infection *in vivo*. A relevant option was to study the role and interaction of macrophages and mycobacteria in an organotypic lung tissue model that was previously established in our laboratory by co-supervisor Dr. Mattias Svensson (Nguyen Hoang, Chen et al. 2012). This model offers the advantage to study immune cells in a physiological milieu *in vitro*.

Our group collaborated with Prof. Maria Lerm and her postdoc from Linköping University, to optimize this model for infection with Mtb that would allow studies of host-bacteria interactions and early granuloma formation at the site of infection (Parasa, Rahman et al. 2014) (Figure 12). Briefly, this culture system contains tissue specific epithelial cells and

#### **HLA-DR**



Figure 11. H37Rv infected macrophages expressing HLADR in organotypic lung tissue model.

fibroblasts that form structures recapitulating normal human lung tissue (Nguyen Hoang, Chen et al. 2012). Furthermore, this system allows implantation of Mtb-infected MDMs that are cultured together with uninfected red-labelled monocytes in the lung tissue model, to support cell migration and granuloma formation (Braian, Svensson et al. 2015). Our previous results showed that infected macrophages cluster to form granuloma-like structures similar to what is seen in human TB lung tissue and this process is dependent on mycobacterial virulence factors such as ESAT-6 (protein secreted via the type VII secretion machinery) (Parasa, Rahman et al. 2014, Davis and Ramakrishnan 2009).

# 3.3.2 Early granuloma formation and Mtb growth is inhibited by the global MMP inhibitor marimastat

Granuloma formation is a characteristic hallmark of human TB. This process involves the recruitment of uninfected immune cells to the site of Mtb replication and is dependent on tissue remodeling. MMPs belong to a group of proteases that have been suggested to contribute to remodeling but also to pathology and tissue destruction in TB (Elkington and Friedland 2006). In Study II, we used the lung tissue model to investigate the role of MMPs in TB granuloma formation and Mtb growth. Our hypothesis was that Mtb infection would induce the expression of a number of MMPs that could facilitate monocyte clustering and spread of Mtb, resulting in granuloma formation and enhanced bacterial growth. MMPs digest the extracellular matrix between the cells and thus facilitate granuloma formation.



**Figure 12.** Organotypic lung tissue model expressing MMPs upon Mtb infection: Infected lung tissue expressed MMPs from epithelial, macrophages and fibroblasts. Marimastat a global inhibitor of MMPs inhibited the expression of MMPs.

Indeed, pre-treatment of macrophages with the global MMP inhibitor marimastat, before culture in the lung tissue model, effectively prevented monocyte clustering, which abrogated granuloma formation as well as intracellular Mtb growth as compared with the untreated control. While the dogma is that TB granulomas are formed in an attempt to wall off the infection and contain the bacteria in a sealed structure, it has previously been determined that Mtb instead can exploit early granuloma formation to seed the infection locally in the tissue (Davis and Ramakrishnan 2009, Cronan, Beerman et al. 2016). This is a feature of virulent bacteria, as mycobacteria lacking virulence factors that are part of the type VII secretion system, fail to promote granuloma formation (Parasa, Rahman et al. 2014, Davis and Ramakrishnan 2009).

#### 3.3.3 The effect of marimastat is not dependent on pro-inflammatory chemokines and cytokines secreted by Mtb-infected lung tissue models

Culture supernatants from Mtb-infected or uninfected lung tissue models were assessed for a panel of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines known to be involved in macrophage activation and resulted in detection of IL-6, IP-10, IL-8, MCP and RANTES. IL-6 is involved in the TB disease progression was significantly up-regulated in Mtb infected lung tissue model. It has been reported that IL-6 inhibits IFN $\gamma$  responses and activation of autophagy, and thereby increase bacterial survival (Dutta, Kathania et al. 2012). In the lung tissue model supernatants, we also found significantly elevated levels of chemokines such as IP-10, which

is well studied as a biomarker in human TB, and MCP-1 that has been associated with leucocyte recruitment and disease severity as well as susceptibility in TB (Hasan, Cliff et al. 2009, Feng, Flores-Villanueva et al. 2012). Treatment of the lung models with marimastat, did not affect cytokine or chemokine expression from Mtb-infected lung tissue model and ultimately early granuloma formation was not dependent on the presence of these cytokines and chemokines.

# 3.3.4 Mtb infection resulted in expression of several MMPs both in lung tissue models and in lung tissue from patients with non-cavitary TB

It has been shown that Mtb can disturb the balance between MMPs and tissue inhibitors of MMPs (TIMPs) to facilitate granuloma formation (Kubler, Luna et al. 2015, Ordonez, Tasneen et al. 2016) and cavitation (Ordonez, Pokkali et al. 2018). To investigate MMP and TIMP expression in Mtb-infected lung tissue, we isolated mRNA from whole lung tissue models or from different cell subsets isolated from the lung tissue models (macrophages, epithelial cells or fibroblasts) and monitored mRNA expression of MMPs and TIMPs. MMP expression in situ was thereafter determined using image analysis. Altogether, these analyses demonstrated an up-regulation of MMP-1, MMP-3, MMP-9 and MMP-12 in Mtb-infected compared with uninfected lung tissue models. Monocytes/macrophages seemed to be the major MMP-producing subset. Contrary, no significant differences were observed in the expression of TIMP 1, 2 and 3 indicating that overall MMP and TIMP expression was altered with Mtb infection. We further confirmed these findings in lung tissue biopsies obtained from patients with non-cavitary forms of TB. Non-cavitary TB was chosen since macrophages were the main producers of MMPs, and macrophage numbers are severely depleted in patients with cavitary forms of TB (Andersson, Samarina et al. 2007). Quantification of MMP protein expression in the lung tissues biopsies, revealed a strong up-regulation of MMP-9 but also a relatively enhanced expression of MMP-1, MMP-3 and MMP-12 in granulomatous TB lesions as compared to the distal lung parenchyma. In addition, mRNA analysis indicated a relatively increased expression of TIMP-1 in the TB lesions. Increased levels of MMP-1, 2, 3, 8 and 9 as well as TIMP-1 and 2 in sputum samples, have been suggested to be associated with enhanced disease severity in TB patients (Ugarte-Gil, Elkington et al. 2013).

From these results, we concluded that granuloma formation and intracellular Mtb growth was effectively abrogated upon inhibition of MMP activity. Using quantitative mRNA and protein analysis we also demonstrated that Mtb-infected lung tissue models expressed a distinct set of MMPs and TIMPs that was comparable to MMP/TIMP expression in granulomatous lesions

from Mtb-infected human lung tissue. In mice, it was recently shown that inhibition of MMPs can prevent the leaky blood vessels and also maintain the integrity of the lung tissue, thereby increasing delivery and efficacy of RIF and INH at the site of infection (Xu, Wang et al. 2018). Moreover, it has been reported that antiretroviral therapy (ART) can lead to an enhanced expression of MMPs, which are associated with impaired lung function in TB immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome, TB-IRIS (Ravimohan, Tamuhla et al. 2016). Overall these studies suggest that targeting Mtb-induced tissue remodeling can be developed for use as adjunct therapy in TB to enhance the efficacy of standard drug regimens.

#### 3.4 STUDY IV

#### 3.4.1 Background

The last Study IV in this thesis work aimed to examine the role of macrophage polarization in TB infection. Since Study I and III were designed to explore the antimicrobial effects of PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub>, we decided to continue to study the effects of particularly VitD<sub>3</sub>, on macrophage polarization. In vivo, macrophages can adopt a variety of functional phenotypes depending on subtle and continuous changes in the tissue microenvironment (Mantovani, Sica et al. 2004, Mantovani, Biswas et al. 2013, Italiani and Boraschi 2014). To define the complexity and plasticity of macrophages, the concept of M1/M2 polarization of macrophage functions has been founded as a simplified conceptual framework describing a non-linear continuum of diverse functional states (Mosser and Edwards 2008). Similar to Th1 and Th2 cells, classically activated M1 cells are inflammatory while alternatively activated M2 cells are considered wound healing or tissue remodeling macrophages (Mantovani, Sica et al. 2004, Mantovani, Biswas et al. 2013, Italiani and Boraschi 2014). Classically activated M1 macrophages are regarded as key effector cells in the elimination of microbes and cancer cells, while M2 macrophages contribute to the production of extracellular matrix components such as MMPs involved in tissue remodeling (Mantovani, Biswas et al. 2013).

In Study IV, we wished to investigate the ability of VitD<sub>3</sub>-polarized macrophages to control intracellular Mtb infection compared with polarization of conventional M1 and M2 macrophage subsets, and the phenotypic alterations associated with immune polarization *in vitro*. Also in this study, we took advantage of our *in vitro* macrophage infection model, and here we applied a protocol for macrophage polarization with different stimuli as described in in figure 13.



Figure 13. Cytokine and chemokine expression of polarized macrophages upon H37Rv infection.

# 3.4.2 *In vitro* polarized macrophages express typical M1 and M2 phenotypic markers but adopt a mixed M1/M2 phenotype post-Mtb infection

Initially, we wanted to confirm that uninfected MDMs activated with classical M1 or M2 stimuli could express phenotype markers typically associated with M1 or M2 polarization and how these phenotypes differed to VitD<sub>3</sub>-polarized macrophages. An array of different markers used to identify and characterize M1 or M2 macrophages have been described (Macrophage Polarization Mini-review, Bio-rad). We tested different markers using multicolor flow cytometry, and ultimately decided on one M1 and one M2 panel that showed reproducible and reliable results. While VitD<sub>3</sub>-polarized cells maintained a phenotype similar to unstimulated MDMs, we could determine that M1 markers such as CCR7, CD64, CD86 and TLR2 or M2 markers such as CD163, CD200R and CD206, were proportionately higher on M1- or M2-polarized cell subsets, respectively. M1/M2 polarization of uninfected MDMs was also associated with typical morphological changes including a more dendritic shape of

M1 cells and more rounded appearance of M2 cells. Interestingly, Mtb infection resulted in an up-regulation of most M1 and M2 markers on the different macrophage subsets, generating a mixed M1/M2 profile. Mtb-infected VitD<sub>3</sub>-polarized macrophages had a significantly up-regulated expression of HLADR, CD86, CD80 and CD206. Both M1 and M2 subsets exhibited an up-regulated CD86 expression, while the M1 subsets also had a significantly up-regulated expression of the M2 marker CD163. A mixed M1/M2 activation profile has previously been shown in several chronic conditions such as melanoma (Bardi, Smith et al. 2018) and multiple sclerosis (Vogel, Vereyken et al. 2013), providing examples where macrophages adopt a mixed phenotype *in vivo*. As an alternative to mixed M1/M2 responses, there is evidence from *in vitro* studies that macrophages also can switch their phenotype from M1 to M2 or *vice versa* depending on sequential micro-environmental challenges in the tissue (Italiani and Boraschi 2014).

# 3.4.3 Enhanced Mtb growth in both M1 and M2 subsets at 72 h post-Mtb infection compared with VitD<sub>3</sub>-polarized macrophages despite lower bacterial uptake in M1 cells at 4 h

To study Mtb uptake as well as productive infection and Mtb growth, we infected the different macrophage subsets at 4 h, 24 h and 72 h. Mtb uptake (4 h) and productive infection (24 and 72 h) was monitored using flow cytometric analyses of Mtb-GFP expression in the macrophages, whereas intracellular Mtb growth was assessed using CFU counts after 4 and 72 h post-Mtb infection. Mtb uptake was remarkably lower in M1-like and M1-polarized subsets compared to all other subsets, but especially compared with the M2 subsets (18% versus 82%). Also intracellular Mtb growth was considerably lower in the M1 subsets compared to the M2 subsets at 4 h post-Mtb infection. But productive infection and Mtb growth inside the M1-like and M1-polarized macrophages progressed rapidly overtime, and at 72 h post-infection, Mtb growth was similar in the M1 and M2 subsets. Notably, while M1 cells lost their capacity to control Mtb growth, M2 cells stabilized and reduced Mtb survival to levels comparable to the M1 subsets. Instead, VitD<sub>3</sub>-polarized cells very efficiently controlled Mtb infection over time. Despite a higher uptake of Mtb bacilli in VitD<sub>3</sub>-polarized compared to M1 cells (33% versus 18%), Mtb growth of both H37Rv and an MDR-TB isolate was maintained at stable, low levels at 24 and 72 h post-Mtb infection. In addition, Mtb growth was around 40% lower in VitD<sub>3</sub>-polarized macrophages compared with the unstimulated M0 control. A previous study reported that macrophages treated with a lowdose of VitD<sub>3</sub> during differentiation, were less infected with dengue virus when compared to untreated macrophages (Arboleda Alzate, Rodenhuis-Zybert et al. 2017). Our experiments suggested that VitD<sub>3</sub>-pretreatment can enhance the ability of macrophages to control Mtb infection more efficiently compared to M1- or M2-polarized cells. Thus, sufficient VitD<sub>3</sub> status may be crucial to support macrophage polarization *in vivo*.

Normally, M1 macrophages have been found to be better equipped with microbial killing capacities (Flannagan, Cosio et al. 2009). It was previously demonstrated that M1 macrophages are infected with BCG at a lower proportion as compared to M2 macrophages, and similar levels of BCG infection were maintained even at 6 days post-infection. (Verreck, de Boer et al. 2004). Our results of reduced infectivity of M1 compared to M2 macrophages at 4 h concur with their findings, but at 3 days post-infection we observed progressive multiplication of bacteria, which could be a trait of intracellular survival or persistence in virulent mycobacteria. Similarly, it has been shown in a chlamydia infection model that despite a lower infectivity of M1 macrophages (Gracey, Lin et al. 2013). These findings support the notion that several pathogens have developed strategies to persist for prolonged periods of time in the host and may allow low, but persistent growth in activated macrophages despite induction of antimicrobial responses.

#### 3.4.4 Mtb-infected VitD<sub>3</sub>-polarized macrophages are more pro-inflammatory and express higher mRNA levels of LL-37 compared with M1 and M2 subsets

To obtain a better view on the function of the different macrophage subsets, we quantified host cell mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory, antimicrobial as well as inhibitory effector molecules before and after Mtb infection. VitD<sub>3</sub>-polarized macrophages specifically up-regulated TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , CCL2, and LL-37, whereas immunosuppressive molecules such as IL-1RA, IDO and Arg-1 were expressed at relatively lower levels after Mtb infection. VitD<sub>3</sub>-polarized cells also expressed relatively high levels of IL-10 and LC3b compared with the M1 and M2 subsets, but this expression was not changed with Mtb infection. Impaired TNF $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  production, may worsen disease progression in TB patients (Waitt, Banda et al. 2015), while CCL2 and TNF $\alpha$  enhance recruitment of immune cells to the site of Mtb infection (Hasan, Cliff et al. 2009). As we observed in Study I, Mtb infection resulted in a potent down-regulation of LL-37, however, LL-37 expression was still substantially higher in Mtb-infected VitD<sub>3</sub>-polarized cells compared to M1 and M2 subsets. As mentioned above, TB patients expressed low levels of LL-37 in TB granulomas (Rahman, Rehn et al. 2015), while VitD<sub>3</sub> supplementation enhanced the production of LL-37 in blood cells (Mily, Rekha et al. 2015). Contrary to VitD<sub>3</sub>-polarized cells, Mtb-infected M1 and M2 subsets exhibited high levels of IL-1RA and IDO but low levels of LL-37. M2-polarized macrophages also expressed high IL-10 levels, but this was not changed with Mtb infection. As expected, the ratio between iNOS/Arg-1 expression was higher in M1- compared with M2-polarized macrophages (Flynn, Chan et al. 2011).

The immunosuppressive enzyme IDO, effectively diminish activation of Th1 cells by degradation of the essential amino acid tryptophan that may result in growth arrest of T cells as well as decreased activity of antigen presenting cells (APCs) (Harden and Egilmez 2012). As such, enhanced IDO activity in PBMCs from individuals vaccinated with a novel TB vaccine candidate was inversely correlated to  $CD4^{+}IFN\gamma^{+}$  T cell responses (Tanner, Kakalacheva et al. 2014). Increased IDO expression has been detected in the macrophage rich areas of TB granulomas (Mehra, Alvarez et al. 2013) and high levels of IDO has also been found in patients with TB pleuritis (Suzuki, Miwa et al. 2013). Interestingly, inhibition of IDO in Mtb-infected non-human primates enhanced T cell proliferation and recruitment of effector T cells to the granulomas, which resulted in enhanced bacterial control (Gautam, Foreman et al. 2018). It has been reported that VitD<sub>3</sub> possess anti-inflammatory properties, which may protect the host from extensive tissue damage and inflammation (Harishankar, Anbalagan et al. 2016). Thus, VitD<sub>3</sub> may enhance innate antimicrobial responses but simultaneously contribute to responses that dampens inflammation but prevents immunosuppression. Further in vitro and in vivo studies will enhance our understanding of the role of VitD<sub>3</sub> on macrophage polarization and protective TB immunity.

### **4** CONCLUSIONS

Altogether, the key conclusions from this thesis work are listed below:

- PBA and/or VitD<sub>3</sub> can overcome Mtb-mediated suppression of LL-37 in human macrophages and instead induce LL-37 and LL-37-dependent activation of autophagy in Mtb-infected cells.
- PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> treatment of macrophages infected with MDR-TB or drug-susceptible strains results in potent Mtb growth inhibition, especially in combination with highdose INH, that is dependent on the expression of LL-37 but not iNOS/RNI or ROS.
- Marimastat, a global inhibitor of MMP activity, inhibits monocyte aggregation and subsequent TB granuloma formation, which reduce the intercellular spread of Mtb and the possibilities for the bacteria to propagate the infection.
- VitD<sub>3</sub>-polarized macrophages express high levels of LL-37 but low levels of immunosuppressive IDO, which is associated with potent Mtb growth inhibition in Mtb-infected macrophages compared with conventional M1 and M2 subsets.

### **5 SUMMARY**

As the emergence of drug-resistance is a common problem in many types of infections, it is crucial to find new alternative treatment strategies, also for TB including MDR-TB. Instead of developing new antibacterial drugs that the bacteria could develop resistance to, we should invest more research in finding compounds that could enhance protective innate or adaptive immune responses. This requires enhanced knowledge about the nature of protective TB immunity, to define what immune mechanisms are important for TB control and how these could be induced. In addition, we need to increase our understanding for the interactions between potential host-directed therapies and conventional antibiotics.

The current thesis demonstrate that Mtb can modulate macrophage responses to become less effective in intracellular bacterial killing. Imperative antimycobacterial effector mechanisms involved in growth inhibition of Mtb in human macrophages involves the antimicrobial peptide LL-37 and activation of autophagy. PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub>-induced LL-37-dependent activation of autophagy, is mediated by the P2X7 receptor involving intracellular free calcium, and activation of the AMPK and PI3 kinase pathways. Potent induction of LL-37 expression was also found to be imperative in intracellular growth inhibition of MDR-TB as well as drug-susceptible Mtb strains. Instead, induction of RNI or ROS production in Mtb-infected macrophages seemed to be less important to control Mtb growth mediated by PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub>.

Importantly, treatment of Mtb-infected cells with a combination of PBA and VitD<sub>3</sub> resulted in an additive effect on the induction of LL-37 and autophagy, which correlated with enhanced Mtb killing. Additive or synergistic effects between PBA and VitD<sub>3</sub> may be explained by the HDACi activity of PBA, which loosens up the chromatin and promotes binding of the intracellular VitD<sub>3</sub>-VDR transcription complex that could result in enhanced transcription of VitD<sub>3</sub>-target genes such as LL-37 and markers of autophagy. Moreover, our results support an additive effect also upon treatment of Mtb-infected cells with a combination of PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> and high-dose INH. These results are promising for clinical implementation of PBA+VitD<sub>3</sub> as adjunctive treatment to strengthen the effect of short-course MDR-TB treatment along with high-dose INH as well as for difficult-to-treat XDR-TB patients when treatment options are scarce.

Our results also show that the lung tissue model provides a unique and novel system to study human TB infection in a physiologically relevant milieu. New insights into how macrophage polarization and bacterial virulence factors contribute to granuloma formation and control of Mtb infection may be key to develop new treatment strategies in TB. Mtb infection may promote a mixed M1/M2 macrophage activation phenotype that may reduce the ability to control Mtb growth at the local site of infection. Our results also demonstrate that expression of MMPs are induced in the lung tissue model with a similar pattern to MMP expression observed in human lung tissue biopsies from active TB patients. Inhibition of MMP activity could block early TB granuloma formation and bacterial growth. This represents another potential mechanism that could be implemented as host-directed TB therapy, targeting the TB granuloma, aiming to inhibit tissue-degradation and bacterial spread.

### **6 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES**

It is clear that antibiotic treatment could be improved by promising adjunct therapies that could boost protective immunity to enhance cure, reduce disease severity and side effects, while preventing the emergence of MDR-TB. Effective host-directed therapies should have the ability to target multiple immune pathways to induce specific antimicrobial effector functions and simultaneously prevent pathological inflammation. Attractive candidates are newly discovered small molecules or repurposed drugs (inexpensive alternatives such as PBA or VitD<sub>3</sub>) that could promote synergistic or overlapping effects with first- or second line antibiotics.

Future challenges involve the design of randomized clinical trials to test new and old hostdirected therapy concepts as adjunct treatment for TB, as is difficult to show potential effects of such therapies on top of the effects of conventional anti-TB drugs. Ultimately, personalized treatment options for TB may be tailored and open up the possibilities for using host-direct therapies particularly in patient with a poor prognosis such as MDR- or XDR-TB, cavitary TB, TB/HIV co-infected patients, TB patients with diabetes or TB patients with severe nutritional deficiencies i.e. with VitD<sub>3</sub>. Furthermore, the prophylactic potential of hostdirected therapies to prevent progression of active TB from latent TB, may be more relevant, but are currently logistically complex to investigate.

### 7 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere heartfelt greetings to everyone who helped me during this journey and especially to

Associate Professor Susanna Brighenti, my wonderful supervisor. I express my sincere gratitude for accepting me as your PhD student. I still remember how dramatically I entered the group. Thank you very much for all your help, extended support and motivation. You are an amazing, supportive and understanding boss with a perfect expression of scientific thoughts. I feel amazed and motivated from your writings.

My sincere thanks to *Associate professor* **Mattias Svensson**, my co-supervisor. Thank you for welcoming me to your lab and recommending me to Sanna. You are always there when needed.

My co-supervisor *Professor Maria Lerm*, for her scientific input, ideas and discussions during the study.

My co-supervisor *Assistant professor* **Senait** *Ashenafi* for her support, scientific and coffee room discussions.

My special friend, *Julius Juarez* for introducing me to CIM. I admire your passion for science. Wish, we do science together.

Thank you *Melles Haile* for being my mentor and checking my future plans.

Thanks to *HGL*, *Anna*, *Malin* and *Johan* and all other *group leaders* and *colleagues at CIM* for making it a wonderful place to work.

My old colleagues *Pablo* and *Salah* for the coffee times and *Ramana* for Linkoping visit and collaborative work. *Nikolai* and *Johanna Snall* for the macrophage discussions.

Thank you *Ginny* for all the concern and help you extended. *Mily, Afzal*, *Sebastian* and *Aline* for making the office lively. *Ebba* and *Magda* for the antibodies and scientific discussions.

My special thanks to *Margit, Elisabeth* and *Lena* for your extended help regarding administrative and practical issues.

*Professor* **Birgitta** Agerberth for initiation of wonderful collaboration resulting in a fabulous scientific outcome.

Associate professor **Peter Bergman** - You are a person with an up to date scientific information and thank you for the passionate recommendations about the research.

*Rekha* and *Emon*, for coordination and planning of our excellent work. We did it! Good luck in all your future endeavors.

My special thanks to *Juan Carlos, Maria, Mikael, Solomon, Ramona* and *Jim*, for your extended cooperation, lively atmosphere and nice discussions. I never felt as an external user.

I wish to thank *Nadir Kadri and Bjorn Onfelt* for introducing me to KI. *Professor Klas Karre*, thank you for believing my hands and my observations in science. *Sridharan* my friend at MTC, thank you for the journal clubs we used to have and I wish you all success.

I wish to thank my MTC friends *Lakshmikanth and Deepa, Vishnu priya and Akilan, Sunitha and Sakthi,* for making the environment lively.

I wish to thank my friends in Stockholm: *Sreenivasulu Reddy and Madhavi, Ramana Rao and Sandhya, Sougat and Beauty, Srikanth and Bhavya, Srinivas and Sindhu. Guruswamy and Savitha*, for all the nice gathering's, late night chats and good food.

I wish to thank my parents *Sambasiva Rao* and *Venkata Subbayamma* for their constant support, encouragement and love. My grand parents *Veerayya* and *Jayamma*, My uncle *Srinivas, SriLakshmi and Mohit,* for their love and support. for all the support until now. My brother, *Rajesh and Divya* for their constant care, love and unconditional support. My wife *Karuna,* I am fortunate to have you in my life. Thank you for your patience, constant support through out. Above all I would like to express my love to our little ones *Lalitha and Lakshmi Tanvi.* 

Finally, I wish to express my sincere gratitude to *Karolinska Institutet* for providing me this excellent opportunity.

### 8 **REFERENCES**

Abdalla, A. E., N. Lambert, X. Duan and J. Xie (2016). "Interleukin-10 Family and Tuberculosis: An Old Story Renewed." Int J Biol Sci **12**(6): 710-717.

Adams, J. S. and M. Hewison (2008). "Unexpected actions of vitamin D: new perspectives on the regulation of innate and adaptive immunity." <u>Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab</u> 4(2): 80-90.

Afzal, A., R. Rathore, N. F. Butt and F. A. Randhawa (2018). "Efficacy of Vitamin D supplementation in achieving an early Sputum Conversion in Smear positive Pulmonary Tuberculosis." <u>Pak J Med Sci</u> **34**(4): 849-854.

Ahluwalia, P. K., R. K. Pandey, P. K. Sehajpal and V. K. Prajapati (2017). "Perturbed microRNA Expression by Mycobacterium tuberculosis Promotes Macrophage Polarization Leading to Pro-survival Foam Cell." <u>Front Immunol</u> **8**: 107.

Andersson, J., A. Samarina, J. Fink, S. Rahman and S. Grundstrom (2007). "Impaired expression of perform and granulysin in CD8+ T cells at the site of infection in human chronic pulmonary tuberculosis." Infect Immun 75(11): 5210-5222.

Andrade, R. M., M. Wessendarp, M. J. Gubbels, B. Striepen and C. S. Subauste (2006). "CD40 induces macrophage anti-Toxoplasma gondii activity by triggering autophagy-dependent fusion of pathogen-containing vacuoles and lysosomes." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **116**(9): 2366-2377.

Arboleda Alzate, J. F., I. A. Rodenhuis-Zybert, J. C. Hernandez, J. M. Smit and S. Urcuqui-Inchima (2017). "Human macrophages differentiated in the presence of vitamin D3 restrict dengue virus infection and innate responses by downregulating mannose receptor expression." <u>PLoS Negl Trop Dis</u> **11**(10): e0005904.

Ashenafi, S., G. Aderaye, A. Bekele, M. Zewdie, G. Aseffa, A. T. Hoang, B. Carow, M. Habtamu, M. Wijkander, M. Rottenberg, A. Aseffa, J. Andersson, M. Svensson and S. Brighenti (2014). "Progression of clinical tuberculosis is associated with a Th2 immune response signature in combination with elevated levels of SOCS3." <u>Clin Immunol</u> **151**(2): 84-99.

Ashenafi, S., G. Aderaye, M. Zewdie, R. Raqib, A. Bekele, I. Magalhaes, B. Lema, M. Habtamu, R. S. Rekha, G. Aseffa, M. Maeurer, A. Aseffa, M. Svensson, J. Andersson and S. Brighenti (2013). "BCG-specific IgG-secreting peripheral plasmablasts as a potential biomarker of active tuberculosis in HIV negative and HIV positive patients." <u>Thorax</u> **68**(3): 269-276.

Ashenafi, S., J. Mazurek, A. Rehn, B. Lemma, G. Aderaye, A. Bekele, G. Assefa, M. Chanyalew, A. Aseffa, J. Andersson, P. Bergman and S. Brighenti (2018). "Vitamin D(3) Status and the Association with Human Cathelicidin Expression in Patients with Different Clinical Forms of Active Tuberculosis." <u>Nutrients</u> **10**(6).

Askling, J., C. M. Fored, L. Brandt, E. Baecklund, L. Bertilsson, L. Coster, P. Geborek, L. T. Jacobsson, S. Lindblad, J. Lysholm, S. Rantapaa-Dahlqvist, T. Saxne, V. Romanus, L. Klareskog and N. Feltelius (2005). "Risk and case characteristics of tuberculosis in rheumatoid arthritis associated with tumor necrosis factor antagonists in Sweden." <u>Arthritis Rheum</u> **52**(7): 1986-1992.

Barberger-Gateau, P., M. A. Jutand, L. Letenneur, S. Larrieu, B. Tavernier and C. Berr (2005). "Correlates of regular fish consumption in french elderly community dwellers: data from the three-city study." <u>Eur J Clin Nutr</u> **59**(7): 817-825.

Bardi, G. T., M. A. Smith and J. L. Hood (2018). "Melanoma exosomes promote mixed M1 and M2 macrophage polarization." <u>Cytokine</u> **105**: 63-72.

Bashir, S., Y. Sharma, A. Elahi and F. Khan (2016). "Macrophage polarization: the link between inflammation and related diseases." Inflamm Res **65**(1): 1-11.

Batshaw, M. L., R. B. MacArthur and M. Tuchman (2001). "Alternative pathway therapy for urea cycle disorders: twenty years later." J Pediatr **138**(1 Suppl): S46-54; discussion S54-45.

Bekele, A., N. Gebreselassie, S. Ashenafi, E. Kassa, G. Aseffa, W. Amogne, M. Getachew, A. Aseffa, A. Worku, R. Raqib, B. Agerberth, U. Hammar, P. Bergman, G. Aderaye, J. Andersson and S. Brighenti (2018). "Daily adjunctive therapy with vitamin D3 and phenylbutyrate supports clinical recovery from pulmonary tuberculosis: a randomized controlled trial in Ethiopia." J Intern Med.

Beyer, M., M. R. Mallmann, J. Xue, A. Staratschek-Jox, D. Vorholt, W. Krebs, D. Sommer, J. Sander, C. Mertens, A. Nino-Castro, S. V. Schmidt and J. L. Schultze (2012). "High-resolution transcriptome of human macrophages." <u>PLoS One</u> 7(9): e45466.

Bikle, D. D. (2014). "Vitamin D metabolism, mechanism of action, and clinical applications." <u>Chem Biol</u> **21**(3): 319-329.

Birmingham, C. L., A. C. Smith, M. A. Bakowski, T. Yoshimori and J. H. Brumell (2006). "Autophagy controls Salmonella infection in response to damage to the Salmonellacontaining vacuole." J Biol Chem **281**(16): 11374-11383.

Bloom, B. R. and R. L. Modlin (2016). "Mechanisms of Defense against Intracellular Pathogens Mediated by Human Macrophages." <u>Microbiol Spectr</u> 4(3).

Braian, C., M. Svensson, S. Brighenti, M. Lerm and V. R. Parasa (2015). "A 3D Human Lung Tissue Model for Functional Studies on Mycobacterium tuberculosis Infection." <u>J Vis</u> <u>Exp(104)</u>.

Brighenti, S. and J. Andersson (2012). "Local immune responses in human tuberculosis: learning from the site of infection." J Infect Dis **205 Suppl 2**: S316-324.

Brighenti, S., P. Bergman and A. R. Martineau (2018). "Vitamin D and tuberculosis: where next?" J Intern Med.

Brighenti, S. and S. A. Joosten (2018). "Friends and foes of tuberculosis: modulation of protective immunity." J Intern Med.

Bruns, H., C. Meinken, P. Schauenberg, G. Harter, P. Kern, R. L. Modlin, C. Antoni and S. Stenger (2009). "Anti-TNF immunotherapy reduces CD8+ T cell-mediated antimicrobial activity against Mycobacterium tuberculosis in humans." J Clin Invest **119**(5): 1167-1177.

Buonsenso, D., M. Sali, D. Pata, E. Masiello, G. Salerno, M. Ceccarelli, G. Delogu and P. Valentini (2018). "Vitamin D Levels in Active TB, Latent TB, Non-TB Pneumonia and Healthy Children: A Prospective Observational Study." <u>Fetal Pediatr Pathol</u>: 1-11.

Bustamante, J., A. A. Arias, G. Vogt, C. Picard, L. B. Galicia, C. Prando, A. V. Grant, C. C. Marchal, M. Hubeau, A. Chapgier, L. de Beaucoudrey, A. Puel, J. Feinberg, E. Valinetz, L. Janniere, C. Besse, A. Boland, J. M. Brisseau, S. Blanche, O. Lortholary, C. Fieschi, J. F. Emile, S. Boisson-Dupuis, S. Al-Muhsen, B. Woda, P. E. Newburger, A. Condino-Neto, M. C. Dinauer, L. Abel and J. L. Casanova (2011). "Germline CYBB mutations that selectively affect macrophages in kindreds with X-linked predisposition to tuberculous mycobacterial disease." <u>Nat Immunol</u> **12**(3): 213-221.

Cambier, C. J., S. Falkow and L. Ramakrishnan (2014). "Host evasion and exploitation schemes of Mycobacterium tuberculosis." <u>Cell</u> **159**(7): 1497-1509.

Chakrabarti, S. and K. D. Patel (2005). "Matrix metalloproteinase-2 (MMP-2) and MMP-9 in pulmonary pathology." <u>Exp Lung Res</u> **31**(6): 599-621.

Chakravarty, S. D., G. Zhu, M. C. Tsai, V. P. Mohan, S. Marino, D. E. Kirschner, L. Huang, J. Flynn and J. Chan (2008). "Tumor necrosis factor blockade in chronic murine tuberculosis enhances granulomatous inflammation and disorganizes granulomas in the lungs." Infect Immun **76**(3): 916-926.

Chow, O. A., M. von Kockritz-Blickwede, A. T. Bright, M. E. Hensler, A. S. Zinkernagel, A. L. Cogen, R. L. Gallo, M. Monestier, Y. Wang, C. K. Glass and V. Nizet (2010). "Statins enhance formation of phagocyte extracellular traps." <u>Cell Host Microbe</u> **8**(5): 445-454.

Clay, H., H. E. Volkman and L. Ramakrishnan (2008). "Tumor necrosis factor signaling mediates resistance to mycobacteria by inhibiting bacterial growth and macrophage death." Immunity **29**(2): 283-294.

Cooper, A. M., A. Solache and S. A. Khader (2007). "Interleukin-12 and tuberculosis: an old story revisited." <u>Curr Opin Immunol</u> **19**(4): 441-447.

Coussens, A., P. M. Timms, B. J. Boucher, T. R. Venton, A. T. Ashcroft, K. H. Skolimowska, S. M. Newton, K. A. Wilkinson, R. N. Davidson, C. J. Griffiths, R. J. Wilkinson and A. R. Martineau (2009). "1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits matrix metalloproteinases induced by Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection." Immunology 127(4): 539-548.

Coussens, A. K., R. J. Wilkinson and A. R. Martineau (2015). "Phenylbutyrate Is Bacteriostatic against Mycobacterium tuberculosis and Regulates the Macrophage Response to Infection, Synergistically with 25-Hydroxy-Vitamin D3." <u>PLoS Pathog</u> **11**(7): e1005007.

Cronan, M. R., R. W. Beerman, A. F. Rosenberg, J. W. Saelens, M. G. Johnson, S. H. Oehlers, D. M. Sisk, K. L. Jurcic Smith, N. A. Medvitz, S. E. Miller, L. A. Trinh, S. E. Fraser, J. F. Madden, J. Turner, J. E. Stout, S. Lee and D. M. Tobin (2016). "Macrophage Epithelial Reprogramming Underlies Mycobacterial Granuloma Formation and Promotes Infection." Immunity **45**(4): 861-876.

Crowle, A. J., E. J. Ross and M. H. May (1987). "Inhibition by 1,25(OH)2-vitamin D3 of the multiplication of virulent tubercle bacilli in cultured human macrophages." <u>Infect Immun</u> **55**(12): 2945-2950.

Davids, M., A. S. Pooran, E. Pietersen, H. C. Wainwright, A. Binder, R. Warren and K. Dheda (2018). "Regulatory T Cells Subvert Mycobacterial Containment in Patients Failing Extensively Drug-Resistant Tuberculosis Treatment." <u>Am J Respir Crit Care Med</u> **198**(1): 104-116.

Davies, P. D. (2001). "Drug-resistant tuberculosis." J R Soc Med 94(6): 261-263.

Davis, J. M. and L. Ramakrishnan (2009). "The role of the granuloma in expansion and dissemination of early tuberculous infection." <u>Cell</u> **136**(1): 37-49.

De, Y., Q. Chen, A. P. Schmidt, G. M. Anderson, J. M. Wang, J. Wooters, J. J. Oppenheim and O. Chertov (2000). "LL-37, the neutrophil granule- and epithelial cell-derived cathelicidin, utilizes formyl peptide receptor-like 1 (FPRL1) as a receptor to chemoattract human peripheral blood neutrophils, monocytes, and T cells." J Exp Med **192**(7): 1069-1074.

Djavaheri-Mergny, M., M. Amelotti, J. Mathieu, F. Besancon, C. Bauvy, S. Souquere, G. Pierron and P. Codogno (2006). "NF-kappaB activation represses tumor necrosis factoralpha-induced autophagy." J Biol Chem **281**(41): 30373-30382.

Dutta, R. K., M. Kathania, M. Raje and S. Majumdar (2012). "IL-6 inhibits IFN-gamma induced autophagy in Mycobacterium tuberculosis H37Rv infected macrophages." <u>Int J Biochem Cell Biol</u> **44**(6): 942-954.

Egen, J. G., A. G. Rothfuchs, C. G. Feng, N. Winter, A. Sher and R. N. Germain (2008). "Macrophage and T cell dynamics during the development and disintegration of mycobacterial granulomas." <u>Immunity</u> **28**(2): 271-284.

Ehrt, S. and D. Schnappinger (2009). "Mycobacterial survival strategies in the phagosome: defence against host stresses." <u>Cell Microbiol</u> **11**(8): 1170-1178.

Eklund, D., H. L. Persson, M. Larsson, A. Welin, J. Idh, J. Paues, S. G. Fransson, O. Stendahl, T. Schon and M. Lerm (2013). "Vitamin D enhances IL-1beta secretion and restricts growth of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in macrophages from TB patients." Int J Mycobacteriol **2**(1): 18-25.

Eklund, D., A. Welin, H. Andersson, D. Verma, P. Soderkvist, O. Stendahl, E. Sarndahl and M. Lerm (2014). "Human gene variants linked to enhanced NLRP3 activity limit intramacrophage growth of Mycobacterium tuberculosis." J Infect Dis **209**(5): 749-753.

El Kasmi, K. C., J. E. Qualls, J. T. Pesce, A. M. Smith, R. W. Thompson, M. Henao-Tamayo, R. J. Basaraba, T. Konig, U. Schleicher, M. S. Koo, G. Kaplan, K. A. Fitzgerald, E. I. Tuomanen, I. M. Orme, T. D. Kanneganti, C. Bogdan, T. A. Wynn and P. J. Murray (2008). "Toll-like receptor-induced arginase 1 in macrophages thwarts effective immunity against intracellular pathogens." <u>Nat Immunol</u> **9**(12): 1399-1406.

Elkington, P., T. Shiomi, R. Breen, R. K. Nuttall, C. A. Ugarte-Gil, N. F. Walker, L. Saraiva, B. Pedersen, F. Mauri, M. Lipman, D. R. Edwards, B. D. Robertson, J. D'Armiento and J. S. Friedland (2011). "MMP-1 drives immunopathology in human tuberculosis and transgenic mice." J Clin Invest **121**(5): 1827-1833.

Elkington, P. T. and J. S. Friedland (2006). "Matrix metalloproteinases in destructive pulmonary pathology." <u>Thorax</u> **61**(3): 259-266.

Elkington, P. T., R. K. Nuttall, J. J. Boyle, C. M. O'Kane, D. E. Horncastle, D. R. Edwards and J. S. Friedland (2005). "Mycobacterium tuberculosis, but not vaccine BCG, specifically upregulates matrix metalloproteinase-1." <u>Am J Respir Crit Care Med</u> **172**(12): 1596-1604.

Elssner, A., M. Duncan, M. Gavrilin and M. D. Wewers (2004). "A novel P2X7 receptor activator, the human cathelicidin-derived peptide LL37, induces IL-1 beta processing and release." J Immunol 172(8): 4987-4994.

Elwood, R. L., S. Wilson, J. C. Blanco, K. Yim, L. Pletneva, B. Nikonenko, R. Samala, S. Joshi, V. G. Hemming and M. Trucksis (2007). "The American cotton rat: a novel model for pulmonary tuberculosis." <u>Tuberculosis (Edinb)</u> **87**(2): 145-154.

Etna, M. P., A. Sinigaglia, A. Grassi, E. Giacomini, A. Romagnoli, M. Pardini, M. Severa, M. Cruciani, F. Rizzo, E. Anastasiadou, B. Di Camillo, L. Barzon, G. M. Fimia, R. Manganelli and E. M. Coccia (2018). "Mycobacterium tuberculosis-induced miR-155 subverts autophagy by targeting ATG3 in human dendritic cells." <u>PLoS Pathog</u> 14(1): e1006790.

Feng, W. X., P. O. Flores-Villanueva, I. Mokrousov, X. R. Wu, J. Xiao, W. W. Jiao, L. Sun, Q. Miao, C. Shen, D. Shen, F. Liu, Z. W. Jia and A. Shen (2012). "CCL2-2518 (A/G)

polymorphisms and tuberculosis susceptibility: a meta-analysis." <u>Int J Tuberc Lung Dis</u> **16**(2): 150-156.

Flannagan, R. S., G. Cosio and S. Grinstein (2009). "Antimicrobial mechanisms of phagocytes and bacterial evasion strategies." <u>Nat Rev Microbiol</u> 7(5): 355-366.

Flynn, J. L., S. V. Capuano, D. Croix, S. Pawar, A. Myers, A. Zinovik and E. Klein (2003). "Non-human primates: a model for tuberculosis research." <u>Tuberculosis (Edinb)</u> **83**(1-3): 116-118.

Flynn, J. L., J. Chan and P. L. Lin (2011). "Macrophages and control of granulomatous inflammation in tuberculosis." <u>Mucosal Immunol</u> **4**(3): 271-278.

Fok, J. S., R. S. Ho, P. K. Arora, G. E. Harding and D. W. Smith (1976). "Host-parasite relationships in experimental airborne tuberculosis. V. Lack of hematogenous dissemination of Mycobacterium tuberculosis to the lungs in animals vaccinated with Bacille Calmette-Guerin." J Infect Dis 133(2): 137-144.

Freeman, S., F. A. Post, L. G. Bekker, R. Harbacheuski, L. M. Steyn, B. Ryffel, N. D. Connell, B. N. Kreiswirth and G. Kaplan (2006). "Mycobacterium tuberculosis H37Ra and H37Rv differential growth and cytokine/chemokine induction in murine macrophages in vitro." J Interferon Cytokine Res **26**(1): 27-33.

Ganmaa, D., B. Munkhzul, W. Fawzi, D. Spiegelman, W. C. Willett, P. Bayasgalan, E. Baasansuren, B. Buyankhishig, S. Oyun-Erdene, D. A. Jolliffe, T. Xenakis, S. Bromage, B. R. Bloom and A. R. Martineau (2017). "High-Dose Vitamin D3 during Tuberculosis Treatment in Mongolia. A Randomized Controlled Trial." <u>Am J Respir Crit Care Med</u> **196**(5): 628-637.

Gautam, U. S., T. W. Foreman, A. N. Bucsan, A. V. Veatch, X. Alvarez, T. Adekambi, N. A. Golden, K. M. Gentry, L. A. Doyle-Meyers, K. E. Russell-Lodrigue, P. J. Didier, J. L. Blanchard, K. G. Kousoulas, A. A. Lackner, D. Kalman, J. Rengarajan, S. A. Khader, D. Kaushal and S. Mehra (2018). "In vivo inhibition of tryptophan catabolism reorganizes the tuberculoma and augments immune-mediated control of Mycobacterium tuberculosis." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **115**(1): E62-E71.

Giuliani, A., S. A. Porcelli, L. Tentori, G. Graziani, C. Testorelli, S. P. Prete, S. Bussini, D. Cappelletti, M. B. Brenner, E. Bonmassar and A. Aquino (1998). "Effect of rifampin on CD1b expression and double-negative T cell responses against mycobacteria-derived glycolipid antigen." Life Sci 63(12): 985-994.

Gombart, A. F., N. Borregaard and H. P. Koeffler (2005). "Human cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide (CAMP) gene is a direct target of the vitamin D receptor and is strongly up-regulated in myeloid cells by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3." <u>FASEB J</u> **19**(9): 1067-1077.

Gonzalez, O. A., M. J. Novak, S. Kirakodu, A. Stromberg, R. Nagarajan, C. B. Huang, K. C. Chen, L. Orraca, J. Martinez-Gonzalez and J. L. Ebersole (2015). "Differential Gene Expression Profiles Reflecting Macrophage Polarization in Aging and Periodontitis Gingival Tissues." <u>Immunol Invest</u> 44(7): 643-664.

Gordon, S. (2003). "Alternative activation of macrophages." Nat Rev Immunol 3(1): 23-35.

Gracey, E., A. Lin, A. Akram, B. Chiu and R. D. Inman (2013). "Intracellular survival and persistence of Chlamydia muridarum is determined by macrophage polarization." <u>PLoS One</u> **8**(8): e69421.

Greten, F. R., M. C. Arkan, J. Bollrath, L. C. Hsu, J. Goode, C. Miething, S. I. Goktuna, M. Neuenhahn, J. Fierer, S. Paxian, N. Van Rooijen, Y. Xu, T. O'Cain, B. B. Jaffee, D. H.

Busch, J. Duyster, R. M. Schmid, L. Eckmann and M. Karin (2007). "NF-kappaB is a negative regulator of IL-1beta secretion as revealed by genetic and pharmacological inhibition of IKKbeta." <u>Cell</u> **130**(5): 918-931.

Gudmundsson, G. H., B. Agerberth, J. Odeberg, T. Bergman, B. Olsson and R. Salcedo (1996). "The human gene FALL39 and processing of the cathelin precursor to the antibacterial peptide LL-37 in granulocytes." <u>Eur J Biochem</u> **238**(2): 325-332.

Gudmundsson, G. H., P. Bergman, J. Andersson, R. Raqib and B. Agerberth (2010). "Battle and balance at mucosal surfaces--the story of Shigella and antimicrobial peptides." <u>Biochem</u> <u>Biophys Res Commun</u> **396**(1): 116-119.

Gupta, U. D. and V. M. Katoch (2005). "Animal models of tuberculosis." <u>Tuberculosis</u> (Edinb) **85**(5-6): 277-293.

Gutierrez, M. G., S. S. Master, S. B. Singh, G. A. Taylor, M. I. Colombo and V. Deretic (2004). "Autophagy is a defense mechanism inhibiting BCG and Mycobacterium tuberculosis survival in infected macrophages." <u>Cell</u> **119**(6): 753-766.

Hanekom, M., N. C. Gey van Pittius, C. McEvoy, T. C. Victor, P. D. Van Helden and R. M. Warren (2011). "Mycobacterium tuberculosis Beijing genotype: a template for success." <u>Tuberculosis (Edinb)</u> **91**(6): 510-523.

Harden, J. L. and N. K. Egilmez (2012). "Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and dendritic cell tolerogenicity." <u>Immunol Invest</u> **41**(6-7): 738-764.

Harishankar, M., S. Anbalagan and P. Selvaraj (2016). "Effect of vitamin D3 on chemokine levels and regulatory T-cells in pulmonary tuberculosis." Int Immunopharmacol **34**: 86-91.

Hasan, Z., J. M. Cliff, H. M. Dockrell, B. Jamil, M. Irfan, M. Ashraf and R. Hussain (2009). "CCL2 responses to Mycobacterium tuberculosis are associated with disease severity in tuberculosis." <u>PLoS One</u> **4**(12): e8459.

Heras-Sandoval, D., J. M. Perez-Rojas, J. Hernandez-Damian and J. Pedraza-Chaverri (2014). "The role of PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway in the modulation of autophagy and the clearance of protein aggregates in neurodegeneration." <u>Cell Signal</u> **26**(12): 2694-2701.

Hollis, B. W. and C. L. Wagner (2013). "Clinical review: The role of the parent compound vitamin D with respect to metabolism and function: Why clinical dose intervals can affect clinical outcomes." J Clin Endocrinol Metab **98**(12): 4619-4628.

Hoyer-Hansen, M. and M. Jaattela (2007). "AMP-activated protein kinase: a universal regulator of autophagy?" <u>Autophagy</u> **3**(4): 381-383.

Idh, J., B. Andersson, M. Lerm, J. Raffetseder, D. Eklund, H. Woksepp, J. Werngren, M. Mansjo, T. Sundqvist, O. Stendahl and T. Schon (2017). "Reduced susceptibility of clinical strains of Mycobacterium tuberculosis to reactive nitrogen species promotes survival in activated macrophages." <u>PLoS One</u> **12**(7): e0181221.

Idh, J., M. Mekonnen, E. Abate, W. Wedajo, J. Werngren, K. Angeby, M. Lerm, D. Elias, T. Sundqvist, A. Aseffa, O. Stendahl and T. Schon (2012). "Resistance to first-line anti-TB drugs is associated with reduced nitric oxide susceptibility in Mycobacterium tuberculosis." <u>PLoS One</u> 7(6): e39891.

Idh, J., A. Westman, D. Elias, F. Moges, A. Getachew, A. Gelaw, T. Sundqvist, T. Forslund, A. Alemu, B. Ayele, E. Diro, E. Melese, Y. Wondmikun, S. Britton, O. Stendahl and T. Schon (2008). "Nitric oxide production in the exhaled air of patients with pulmonary tuberculosis in relation to HIV co-infection." <u>BMC Infect Dis</u> **8**: 146.

Islam, D., L. Bandholtz, J. Nilsson, H. Wigzell, B. Christensson, B. Agerberth and G. Gudmundsson (2001). "Downregulation of bactericidal peptides in enteric infections: a novel immune escape mechanism with bacterial DNA as a potential regulator." <u>Nat Med</u> 7(2): 180-185.

Italiani, P. and D. Boraschi (2014). "From Monocytes to M1/M2 Macrophages: Phenotypical vs. Functional Differentiation." <u>Front Immunol 5</u>: 514.

Jagannath, C., J. K. Actor and R. L. Hunter, Jr. (1998). "Induction of nitric oxide in human monocytes and monocyte cell lines by Mycobacterium tuberculosis." <u>Nitric Oxide</u> **2**(3): 174-186.

Jeon, C. Y. and M. B. Murray (2008). "Diabetes mellitus increases the risk of active tuberculosis: a systematic review of 13 observational studies." <u>PLoS Med</u> **5**(7): e152.

Jia, G., G. Cheng, D. M. Gangahar and D. K. Agrawal (2006). "Insulin-like growth factor-1 and TNF-alpha regulate autophagy through c-jun N-terminal kinase and Akt pathways in human atherosclerotic vascular smooth cells." <u>Immunol Cell Biol</u> **84**(5): 448-454.

Kalsum, S., C. Braian, V. Koeken, J. Raffetseder, M. Lindroth, R. van Crevel and M. Lerm (2017). "The Cording Phenotype of Mycobacterium tuberculosis Induces the Formation of Extracellular Traps in Human Macrophages." <u>Front Cell Infect Microbiol</u> **7**: 278.

Kashino, S. S., D. R. Napolitano, Z. Skobe and A. Campos-Neto (2008). "Guinea pig model of Mycobacterium tuberculosis latent/dormant infection." <u>Microbes Infect</u> **10**(14-15): 1469-1476.

Kaufmann, S. H. E., A. Dorhoi, R. S. Hotchkiss and R. Bartenschlager (2018). "Host-directed therapies for bacterial and viral infections." <u>Nat Rev Drug Discov</u> **17**(1): 35-56.

Keane, J., M. K. Balcewicz-Sablinska, H. G. Remold, G. L. Chupp, B. B. Meek, M. J. Fenton and H. Kornfeld (1997). "Infection by Mycobacterium tuberculosis promotes human alveolar macrophage apoptosis." <u>Infect Immun</u> **65**(1): 298-304.

Keane, J., S. Gershon, R. P. Wise, E. Mirabile-Levens, J. Kasznica, W. D. Schwieterman, J. N. Siegel and M. M. Braun (2001). "Tuberculosis associated with infliximab, a tumor necrosis factor alpha-neutralizing agent." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **345**(15): 1098-1104.

Kim, H., K. W. Kwon, W. S. Kim and S. J. Shin (2017). "Virulence-dependent induction of interleukin-10-producing-tolerogenic dendritic cells by Mycobacterium tuberculosis impedes optimal T helper type 1 proliferation." <u>Immunology</u> **151**(2): 177-190.

Kim, J. J., H. M. Lee, D. M. Shin, W. Kim, J. M. Yuk, H. S. Jin, S. H. Lee, G. H. Cha, J. M. Kim, Z. W. Lee, S. J. Shin, H. Yoo, Y. K. Park, J. B. Park, J. Chung, T. Yoshimori and E. K. Jo (2012). "Host cell autophagy activated by antibiotics is required for their effective antimycobacterial drug action." <u>Cell Host Microbe</u> **11**(5): 457-468.

Kim, M. J., H. C. Wainwright, M. Locketz, L. G. Bekker, G. B. Walther, C. Dittrich, A. Visser, W. Wang, F. F. Hsu, U. Wiehart, L. Tsenova, G. Kaplan and D. G. Russell (2010). "Caseation of human tuberculosis granulomas correlates with elevated host lipid metabolism." <u>EMBO Mol Med</u> **2**(7): 258-274.

Kisacik, B., O. N. Pamuk, A. M. Onat, S. B. Erer, G. Hatemi, Y. Ozguler, Y. Pehlivan, L. Kilic, I. Ertenli, M. Can, H. Direskeneli, G. Keser, F. Oksel, E. Dalkilic, S. Yilmaz, S. Pay, A. Balkarli, V. Cobankara, G. Y. Cetin, M. Sayarlioglu, A. Cefle, A. Yazici, A. B. Avci, E. Terzioglu, S. Ozbek, S. Akar and A. Gul (2016). "Characteristics Predicting Tuberculosis Risk under Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha Inhibitors: Report from a Large Multicenter Cohort with High Background Prevalence." J Rheumatol **43**(3): 524-529.

Koning, N., M. van Eijk, W. Pouwels, M. S. Brouwer, D. Voehringer, I. Huitinga, R. M. Hoek, G. Raes and J. Hamann (2010). "Expression of the inhibitory CD200 receptor is associated with alternative macrophage activation." J Innate Immun 2(2): 195-200.

Kubler, A., B. Luna, C. Larsson, N. C. Ammerman, B. B. Andrade, M. Orandle, K. W. Bock, Z. Xu, U. Bagci, D. J. Mollura, J. Marshall, J. Burns, K. Winglee, B. A. Ahidjo, L. S. Cheung, M. Klunk, S. K. Jain, N. P. Kumar, S. Babu, A. Sher, J. S. Friedland, P. T. Elkington and W. R. Bishai (2015). "Mycobacterium tuberculosis dysregulates MMP/TIMP balance to drive rapid cavitation and unrestrained bacterial proliferation." J Pathol 235(3): 431-444.

Kumar, N. P., K. Moideen, V. Viswanathan, B. S. Shruthi, S. Sivakumar, P. A. Menon, H. Kornfeld and S. Babu (2018). "Elevated levels of matrix metalloproteinases reflect severity and extent of disease in tuberculosis-diabetes co-morbidity and are predominantly reversed following standard anti-tuberculosis or metformin treatment." <u>BMC Infect Dis</u> **18**(1): 345.

Lange, C., D. Chesov, J. Heyckendorf, C. C. Leung, Z. Udwadia and K. Dheda (2018). "Drug-resistant tuberculosis: An update on disease burden, diagnosis and treatment." <u>Respirology</u> **23**(7): 656-673.

Lee, J. S., C. S. Yang, D. M. Shin, J. M. Yuk, J. W. Son and E. K. Jo (2009). "Nitric Oxide Synthesis is Modulated by 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 and Interferon-gamma in Human Macrophages after Mycobacterial Infection." <u>Immune Netw</u> **9**(5): 192-202.

Levine, B. and V. Deretic (2007). "Unveiling the roles of autophagy in innate and adaptive immunity." <u>Nat Rev Immunol</u> **7**(10): 767-777.

Li, Q. J., W. W. Jiao, Q. Q. Yin, F. Xu, J. Q. Li, L. Sun, J. Xiao, Y. J. Li, I. Mokrousov, H. R. Huang and A. D. Shen (2016). "Compensatory Mutations of Rifampin Resistance Are Associated with Transmission of Multidrug-Resistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis Beijing Genotype Strains in China." <u>Antimicrob Agents Chemother</u> **60**(5): 2807-2812.

Liang, Y., T. Zhou, Y. Chen, D. Lin, X. Jing, S. Peng, D. Zheng, Z. Zeng, M. Lei, X. Wu, K. Huang, L. Yang, S. Xiao, J. Liu and E. Tao (2017). "Rifampicin inhibits rotenone-induced microglial inflammation via enhancement of autophagy." <u>Neurotoxicology</u> **63**: 137-145.

Liu, P. T., S. Stenger, H. Li, L. Wenzel, B. H. Tan, S. R. Krutzik, M. T. Ochoa, J. Schauber, K. Wu, C. Meinken, D. L. Kamen, M. Wagner, R. Bals, A. Steinmeyer, U. Zugel, R. L. Gallo, D. Eisenberg, M. Hewison, B. W. Hollis, J. S. Adams, B. R. Bloom and R. L. Modlin (2006). "Toll-like receptor triggering of a vitamin D-mediated human antimicrobial response." <u>Science</u> **311**(5768): 1770-1773.

Liu, P. T., S. Stenger, D. H. Tang and R. L. Modlin (2007). "Cutting edge: vitamin D-mediated human antimicrobial activity against Mycobacterium tuberculosis is dependent on the induction of cathelicidin." J Immunol **179**(4): 2060-2063.

Lozano, R., M. Naghavi, K. Foreman, S. Lim, K. Shibuya, V. Aboyans, J. Abraham, T. Adair, R. Aggarwal, S. Y. Ahn, M. Alvarado, H. R. Anderson, L. M. Anderson, K. G. Andrews, C. Atkinson, L. M. Baddour, S. Barker-Collo, D. H. Bartels, M. L. Bell, E. J. Benjamin, D. Bennett, K. Bhalla, B. Bikbov, A. Bin Abdulhak, G. Birbeck, F. Blyth, I. Bolliger, S. Boufous, C. Bucello, M. Burch, P. Burney, J. Carapetis, H. Chen, D. Chou, S. S. Chugh, L. E. Coffeng, S. D. Colan, S. Colquhoun, K. E. Colson, J. Condon, M. D. Connor, L. T. Cooper, M. Corriere, M. Cortinovis, K. C. de Vaccaro, W. Couser, B. C. Cowie, M. H. Criqui, M. Cross, K. C. Dabhadkar, N. Dahodwala, D. De Leo, L. Degenhardt, A. Delossantos, J. Denenberg, D. C. Des Jarlais, S. D. Dharmaratne, E. R. Dorsey, T. Driscoll, H. Duber, B. Ebel, P. J. Erwin, P. Espindola, M. Ezzati, V. Feigin, A. D. Flaxman, M. H. Forouzanfar, F. G. Fowkes, R. Franklin, M. Fransen, M. K. Freeman, S. E. Gabriel, E. Gakidou, F. Gaspari, R. F. Gillum, D. Gonzalez-Medina, Y. A. Halasa, D. Haring, J. E.
Harrison, R. Havmoeller, R. J. Hav, B. Hoen, P. J. Hotez, D. Hoy, K. H. Jacobsen, S. L. James, R. Jasrasaria, S. Jayaraman, N. Johns, G. Karthikeyan, N. Kassebaum, A. Keren, J. P. Khoo, L. M. Knowlton, O. Kobusingye, A. Koranteng, R. Krishnamurthi, M. Lipnick, S. E. Lipshultz, S. L. Ohno, J. Mabweijano, M. F. MacIntyre, L. Mallinger, L. March, G. B. Marks, R. Marks, A. Matsumori, R. Matzopoulos, B. M. Mayosi, J. H. McAnulty, M. M. McDermott, J. McGrath, G. A. Mensah, T. R. Merriman, C. Michaud, M. Miller, T. R. Miller, C. Mock, A. O. Mocumbi, A. A. Mokdad, A. Moran, K. Mulholland, M. N. Nair, L. Naldi, K. M. Narayan, K. Nasseri, P. Norman, M. O'Donnell, S. B. Omer, K. Ortblad, R. Osborne, D. Ozgediz, B. Pahari, J. D. Pandian, A. P. Rivero, R. P. Padilla, F. Perez-Ruiz, N. Perico, D. Phillips, K. Pierce, C. A. Pope, 3rd, E. Porrini, F. Pourmalek, M. Raju, D. Ranganathan, J. T. Rehm, D. B. Rein, G. Remuzzi, F. P. Rivara, T. Roberts, F. R. De Leon, L. C. Rosenfeld, L. Rushton, R. L. Sacco, J. A. Salomon, U. Sampson, E. Sanman, D. C. Schwebel, M. Segui-Gomez, D. S. Shepard, D. Singh, J. Singleton, K. Sliwa, E. Smith, A. Steer, J. A. Taylor, B. Thomas, I. M. Tleyjeh, J. A. Towbin, T. Truelsen, E. A. Undurraga, N. Venketasubramanian, L. Vijayakumar, T. Vos, G. R. Wagner, M. Wang, W. Wang, K. Watt, M. A. Weinstock, R. Weintraub, J. D. Wilkinson, A. D. Woolf, S. Wulf, P. H. Yeh, P. Yip, A. Zabetian, Z. J. Zheng, A. D. Lopez, C. J. Murray, M. A. AlMazroa and Z. A. Memish (2012). "Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010." Lancet **380**(9859): 2095-2128.

Lv, J., X. He, H. Wang, Z. Wang, G. T. Kelly, X. Wang, Y. Chen, T. Wang and Z. Qian (2017). "TLR4-NOX2 axis regulates the phagocytosis and killing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis by macrophages." <u>BMC Pulm Med</u> **17**(1): 194.

Maisnier-Patin, S. and D. I. Andersson (2004). "Adaptation to the deleterious effects of antimicrobial drug resistance mutations by compensatory evolution." <u>Res Microbiol</u> **155**(5): 360-369.

Majewski, K., J. Agier, E. Kozlowska and E. Brzezinska-Blaszczyk (2017). "Serum level of cathelicidin LL-37 in patients with active tuberculosis and other infectious diseases." J Biol Regul Homeost Agents **31**(3): 731-736.

Manabe, Y. C., A. M. Dannenberg, Jr., S. K. Tyagi, C. L. Hatem, M. Yoder, S. C. Woolwine, B. C. Zook, M. L. Pitt and W. R. Bishai (2003). "Different strains of Mycobacterium tuberculosis cause various spectrums of disease in the rabbit model of tuberculosis." Infect Immun 71(10): 6004-6011.

Manca, C., M. S. Koo, B. Peixoto, D. Fallows, G. Kaplan and S. Subbian (2013). "Host targeted activity of pyrazinamide in Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection." <u>PLoS One</u> **8**(8): e74082.

Manca, C., M. B. Reed, S. Freeman, B. Mathema, B. Kreiswirth, C. E. Barry, 3rd and G. Kaplan (2004). "Differential monocyte activation underlies strain-specific Mycobacterium tuberculosis pathogenesis." Infect Immun 72(9): 5511-5514.

Manjelievskaia, J., D. Erck, S. Piracha and L. Schrager (2016). "Drug-resistant TB: deadly, costly and in need of a vaccine." <u>Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg</u> **110**(3): 186-191.

Mantovani, A., S. K. Biswas, M. R. Galdiero, A. Sica and M. Locati (2013). "Macrophage plasticity and polarization in tissue repair and remodelling." <u>J Pathol</u> **229**(2): 176-185.

Mantovani, A., A. Sica, S. Sozzani, P. Allavena, A. Vecchi and M. Locati (2004). "The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization." <u>Trends</u> <u>Immunol</u> **25**(12): 677-686.

Marino, S., N. A. Cilfone, J. T. Mattila, J. J. Linderman, J. L. Flynn and D. E. Kirschner (2015). "Macrophage polarization drives granuloma outcome during Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection." Infect Immun **83**(1): 324-338.

Martineau, A. R., D. A. Jolliffe, R. L. Hooper, L. Greenberg, J. F. Aloia, P. Bergman, G. Dubnov-Raz, S. Esposito, D. Ganmaa, A. A. Ginde, E. C. Goodall, C. C. Grant, C. J. Griffiths, W. Janssens, I. Laaksi, S. Manaseki-Holland, D. Mauger, D. R. Murdoch, R. Neale, J. R. Rees, S. Simpson, Jr., I. Stelmach, G. T. Kumar, M. Urashima and C. A. Camargo, Jr. (2017). "Vitamin D supplementation to prevent acute respiratory tract infections: systematic review and meta-analysis of individual participant data." <u>BMJ</u> **356**: i6583.

Martineau, A. R., P. M. Timms, G. H. Bothamley, Y. Hanifa, K. Islam, A. P. Claxton, G. E. Packe, J. C. Moore-Gillon, M. Darmalingam, R. N. Davidson, H. J. Milburn, L. V. Baker, R. D. Barker, N. J. Woodward, T. R. Venton, K. E. Barnes, C. J. Mullett, A. K. Coussens, C. M. Rutterford, C. A. Mein, G. R. Davies, R. J. Wilkinson, V. Nikolayevskyy, F. A. Drobniewski, S. M. Eldridge and C. J. Griffiths (2011). "High-dose vitamin D(3) during intensive-phase antimicrobial treatment of pulmonary tuberculosis: a double-blind randomised controlled trial." Lancet **377**(9761): 242-250.

Martineau, A. R., K. A. Wilkinson, S. M. Newton, R. A. Floto, A. W. Norman, K. Skolimowska, R. N. Davidson, O. E. Sorensen, B. Kampmann, C. J. Griffiths and R. J. Wilkinson (2007). "IFN-gamma- and TNF-independent vitamin D-inducible human suppression of mycobacteria: the role of cathelicidin LL-37." J Immunol **178**(11): 7190-7198.

Master, S. S., S. K. Rampini, A. S. Davis, C. Keller, S. Ehlers, B. Springer, G. S. Timmins, P. Sander and V. Deretic (2008). "Mycobacterium tuberculosis prevents inflammasome activation." <u>Cell Host Microbe</u> **3**(4): 224-232.

Mattila, J. T., O. O. Ojo, D. Kepka-Lenhart, S. Marino, J. H. Kim, S. Y. Eum, L. E. Via, C. E. Barry, 3rd, E. Klein, D. E. Kirschner, S. M. Morris, Jr., P. L. Lin and J. L. Flynn (2013). "Microenvironments in tuberculous granulomas are delineated by distinct populations of macrophage subsets and expression of nitric oxide synthase and arginase isoforms." J Immunol 191(2): 773-784.

McCarthy, O. R. (2001). "The key to the sanatoria." J R Soc Med 94(8): 413-417.

Mehra, S., X. Alvarez, P. J. Didier, L. A. Doyle, J. L. Blanchard, A. A. Lackner and D. Kaushal (2013). "Granuloma correlates of protection against tuberculosis and mechanisms of immune modulation by Mycobacterium tuberculosis." J Infect Dis **207**(7): 1115-1127.

Mendez, S., R. Traslavina, M. Hinchman, L. Huang, P. Green, M. H. Cynamon and J. T. Welch (2009). "The antituberculosis drug pyrazinamide affects the course of cutaneous leishmaniasis in vivo and increases activation of macrophages and dendritic cells." <u>Antimicrob Agents Chemother</u> **53**(12): 5114-5121.

Metushi, I. G. and J. Uetrecht (2014). "Isoniazid-induced liver injury and immune response in mice." J Immunotoxicol **11**(4): 383-392.

Mily, A., R. S. Rekha, S. M. Kamal, A. S. Arifuzzaman, Z. Rahim, L. Khan, M. A. Haq, K. Zaman, P. Bergman, S. Brighenti, G. H. Gudmundsson, B. Agerberth and R. Raqib (2015). "Significant Effects of Oral Phenylbutyrate and Vitamin D3 Adjunctive Therapy in Pulmonary Tuberculosis: A Randomized Controlled Trial." <u>PLoS One</u> **10**(9): e0138340.

Minic, S., M. Bojic, J. Vukadinov, G. Canak, M. Fabri and I. Bojic (2009). "[Immunomodulatory actions of antibiotics]." <u>Med Pregl</u> **62**(7-8): 327-330. Moir, S., T. W. Chun and A. S. Fauci (2011). "Pathogenic mechanisms of HIV disease." <u>Annu Rev Pathol</u> 6: 223-248.

Moodley, R., T. R. Godec and S. T. Team (2016). "Short-course treatment for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis: the STREAM trials." <u>Eur Respir Rev</u> **25**(139): 29-35.

Moreira-Teixeira, L., P. S. Redford, E. Stavropoulos, N. Ghilardi, C. L. Maynard, C. T. Weaver, A. P. Freitas do Rosario, X. Wu, J. Langhorne and A. O'Garra (2017). "T Cell-Derived IL-10 Impairs Host Resistance to Mycobacterium tuberculosis Infection." <u>J Immunol</u> **199**(2): 613-623.

Mosser, D. M. and J. P. Edwards (2008). "Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation." <u>Nat Rev Immunol</u> **8**(12): 958-969.

Muller, B., S. Borrell, G. Rose and S. Gagneux (2013). "The heterogeneous evolution of multidrug-resistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis." <u>Trends Genet</u> **29**(3): 160-169.

Munder, M. (2009). "Arginase: an emerging key player in the mammalian immune system." <u>Br J Pharmacol</u> **158**(3): 638-651.

Murray, P. J., J. E. Allen, S. K. Biswas, E. A. Fisher, D. W. Gilroy, S. Goerdt, S. Gordon, J. A. Hamilton, L. B. Ivashkiv, T. Lawrence, M. Locati, A. Mantovani, F. O. Martinez, J. L. Mege, D. M. Mosser, G. Natoli, J. P. Saeij, J. L. Schultze, K. A. Shirey, A. Sica, J. Suttles, I. Udalova, J. A. van Ginderachter, S. N. Vogel and T. A. Wynn (2014). "Macrophage activation and polarization: nomenclature and experimental guidelines." Immunity **41**(1): 14-20.

Nagabhushanam, V., A. Solache, L. M. Ting, C. J. Escaron, J. Y. Zhang and J. D. Ernst (2003). "Innate inhibition of adaptive immunity: Mycobacterium tuberculosis-induced IL-6 inhibits macrophage responses to IFN-gamma." J Immunol **171**(9): 4750-4757.

Nagela Ghabdan Zanluqui, P. F. W. and and P. Pinge-Filho (2015). "Macrophage Polarization in Chagas Disease." J Clin Cell Immunol **6**(317).

Nahid, P., S. E. Dorman, N. Alipanah, P. M. Barry, J. L. Brozek, A. Cattamanchi, L. H. Chaisson, R. E. Chaisson, C. L. Daley, M. Grzemska, J. M. Higashi, C. S. Ho, P. C. Hopewell, S. A. Keshavjee, C. Lienhardt, R. Menzies, C. Merrifield, M. Narita, R. O'Brien, C. A. Peloquin, A. Raftery, J. Saukkonen, H. S. Schaaf, G. Sotgiu, J. R. Starke, G. B. Migliori and A. Vernon (2016). "Official American Thoracic Society/Centers for Disease Control and Prevention/Infectious Diseases Society of America Clinical Practice Guidelines: Treatment of Drug-Susceptible Tuberculosis." <u>Clin Infect Dis</u> **63**(7): e147-e195.

Nair, R. and A. Maseeh (2012). "Vitamin D: The "sunshine" vitamin." J Pharmacol Pharmacother **3**(2): 118-126.

Newport, M. J., C. M. Huxley, S. Huston, C. M. Hawrylowicz, B. A. Oostra, R. Williamson and M. Levin (1996). "A mutation in the interferon-gamma-receptor gene and susceptibility to mycobacterial infection." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **335**(26): 1941-1949.

Nguyen Hoang, A. T., P. Chen, J. Juarez, P. Sachamitr, B. Billing, L. Bosnjak, B. Dahlen, M. Coles and M. Svensson (2012). "Dendritic cell functional properties in a three-dimensional tissue model of human lung mucosa." <u>Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol</u> **302**(2): L226-237.

Nicholson, S., G. Bonecini-Almeida Mda, J. R. Lapa e Silva, C. Nathan, Q. W. Xie, R. Mumford, J. R. Weidner, J. Calaycay, J. Geng, N. Boechat, C. Linhares, W. Rom and J. L. Ho (1996). "Inducible nitric oxide synthase in pulmonary alveolar macrophages from patients with tuberculosis." J Exp Med 183(5): 2293-2302.

Nizet, V. and R. L. Gallo (2003). "Cathelicidins and innate defense against invasive bacterial infection." <u>Scand J Infect Dis</u> **35**(9): 670-676.

O'Brien, L., J. Carmichael, D. B. Lowrie and P. W. Andrew (1994). "Strains of Mycobacterium tuberculosis differ in susceptibility to reactive nitrogen intermediates in vitro." Infect Immun 62(11): 5187-5190.

Ogawa, M., T. Yoshimori, T. Suzuki, H. Sagara, N. Mizushima and C. Sasakawa (2005). "Escape of intracellular Shigella from autophagy." <u>Science</u> **307**(5710): 727-731.

Ong, C. W., P. T. Elkington and J. S. Friedland (2014). "Tuberculosis, pulmonary cavitation, and matrix metalloproteinases." <u>Am J Respir Crit Care Med</u> **190**(1): 9-18.

Ong, C. W. M., K. Fox, A. Ettorre, P. T. Elkington and J. S. Friedland (2018). "Hypoxia increases neutrophil-driven matrix destruction after exposure to Mycobacterium tuberculosis." <u>Sci Rep</u> 8(1): 11475.

Ordonez, A. A., S. Pokkali, J. Sanchez-Bautista, M. H. Klunk, M. E. Urbanowski, A. Kubler, W. R. Bishai, P. T. Elkington and S. K. Jain (2018). "Matrix Metalloproteinase Inhibition in a Murine Model of Cavitary Tuberculosis Paradoxically Worsens Pathology." J Infect Dis.

Ordonez, A. A., R. Tasneen, S. Pokkali, Z. Xu, P. J. Converse, M. H. Klunk, D. J. Mollura, E. L. Nuermberger and S. K. Jain (2016). "Mouse model of pulmonary cavitary tuberculosis and expression of matrix metalloproteinase-9." <u>Dis Model Mech</u> **9**(7): 779-788.

Palomino, J. C. and A. Martin (2014). "Drug Resistance Mechanisms in Mycobacterium tuberculosis." <u>Antibiotics (Basel)</u> **3**(3): 317-340.

Parasa, V. R., J. R. Muvva, J. F. Rose, C. Braian, S. Brighenti and M. Lerm (2017). "Inhibition of Tissue Matrix Metalloproteinases Interferes with Mycobacterium tuberculosis-Induced Granuloma Formation and Reduces Bacterial Load in a Human Lung Tissue Model." <u>Front Microbiol</u> **8**: 2370.

Parasa, V. R., M. J. Rahman, A. T. Ngyuen Hoang, M. Svensson, S. Brighenti and M. Lerm (2014). "Modeling Mycobacterium tuberculosis early granuloma formation in experimental human lung tissue." <u>Dis Model Mech</u> 7(2): 281-288.

Pareek, M., C. Greenaway, T. Noori, J. Munoz and D. Zenner (2016). "The impact of migration on tuberculosis epidemiology and control in high-income countries: a review." <u>BMC Med</u> 14: 48.

Parikh, R., G. Nataraj, S. Kanade, V. Khatri and P. Mehta (2012). "Time to sputum conversion in smear positive pulmonary TB patients on category I DOTS and factors delaying it." J Assoc Physicians India **60**: 22-26.

Patel, U., S. Rajasingh, S. Samanta, T. Cao, B. Dawn and J. Rajasingh (2016). "Macrophage polarization in response to epigenetic modifiers during infection and inflammation." <u>Drug</u> Discov Today.

Rabbani, G. H., M. J. Albert, A. S. Hamidur Rahman, M. Moyenul Isalm, K. M. Nasirul Islam and K. Alam (1999). "Short-chain fatty acids improve clinical, pathologic, and microbiologic features of experimental shigellosis." J Infect Dis **179**(2): 390-397.

Rahman, S., B. Gudetta, J. Fink, A. Granath, S. Ashenafi, A. Aseffa, M. Derbew, M. Svensson, J. Andersson and S. G. Brighenti (2009). "Compartmentalization of immune responses in human tuberculosis: few CD8+ effector T cells but elevated levels of FoxP3+ regulatory t cells in the granulomatous lesions." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **174**(6): 2211-2224.

Rahman, S., A. Rehn, J. Rahman, J. Andersson, M. Svensson and S. Brighenti (2015). "Pulmonary tuberculosis patients with a vitamin D deficiency demonstrate low local expression of the antimicrobial peptide LL-37 but enhanced FoxP3+ regulatory T cells and IgG-secreting cells." <u>Clin Immunol</u> **156**(2): 85-97.

Ramakrishnan, L. (2013). "The zebrafish guide to tuberculosis immunity and treatment." Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol **78**: 179-192.

Raqib, R., P. Sarker, P. Bergman, G. Ara, M. Lindh, D. A. Sack, K. M. Nasirul Islam, G. H. Gudmundsson, J. Andersson and B. Agerberth (2006). "Improved outcome in shigellosis associated with butyrate induction of an endogenous peptide antibiotic." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **103**(24): 9178-9183.

Raqib, R., P. Sarker, A. Mily, N. H. Alam, A. S. Arifuzzaman, R. S. Rekha, J. Andersson, G. H. Gudmundsson, A. Cravioto and B. Agerberth (2012). "Efficacy of sodium butyrate adjunct therapy in shigellosis: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial." <u>BMC Infect Dis</u> **12**: 111.

Ravimohan, S., N. Tamuhla, S. J. Kung, K. Nfanyana, A. P. Steenhoff, R. Gross, D. Weissman and G. P. Bisson (2016). "Matrix Metalloproteinases in Tuberculosis-Immune Reconstitution Inflammatory Syndrome and Impaired Lung Function Among Advanced HIV/TB Co-infected Patients Initiating Antiretroviral Therapy." <u>EBioMedicine</u> **3**: 100-107.

Redford, P. S., P. J. Murray and A. O'Garra (2011). "The role of IL-10 in immune regulation during M. tuberculosis infection." <u>Mucosal Immunol</u> **4**(3): 261-270.

Reed, M. B., P. Domenech, C. Manca, H. Su, A. K. Barczak, B. N. Kreiswirth, G. Kaplan and C. E. Barry, 3rd (2004). "A glycolipid of hypervirulent tuberculosis strains that inhibits the innate immune response." <u>Nature</u> **431**(7004): 84-87.

Rekha, R. S., S. S. Rao Muvva, M. Wan, R. Raqib, P. Bergman, S. Brighenti, G. H. Gudmundsson and B. Agerberth (2015). "Phenylbutyrate induces LL-37-dependent autophagy and intracellular killing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in human macrophages." <u>Autophagy</u> **11**(9): 1688-1699.

Reuschl, A. K., M. R. Edwards, R. Parker, D. W. Connell, L. Hoang, A. Halliday, H. Jarvis, N. Siddiqui, C. Wright, S. Bremang, S. M. Newton, P. Beverley, R. J. Shattock, O. M. Kon and A. Lalvani (2017). "Innate activation of human primary epithelial cells broadens the host response to Mycobacterium tuberculosis in the airways." <u>PLoS Pathog</u> **13**(9): e1006577.

Ribeiro-Rodrigues, R., T. Resende Co, R. Rojas, Z. Toossi, R. Dietze, W. H. Boom, E. Maciel and C. S. Hirsch (2006). "A role for CD4+CD25+ T cells in regulation of the immune response during human tuberculosis." <u>Clin Exp Immunol</u> **144**(1): 25-34.

Rich, E. A., M. Torres, E. Sada, C. K. Finegan, B. D. Hamilton and Z. Toossi (1997). "Mycobacterium tuberculosis (MTB)-stimulated production of nitric oxide by human alveolar macrophages and relationship of nitric oxide production to growth inhibition of MTB." <u>Tuber Lung Dis</u> **78**(5-6): 247-255.

Rivas-Santiago, B., R. Hernandez-Pando, C. Carranza, E. Juarez, J. L. Contreras, D. Aguilar-Leon, M. Torres and E. Sada (2008). "Expression of cathelicidin LL-37 during Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection in human alveolar macrophages, monocytes, neutrophils, and epithelial cells." <u>Infect Immun</u> **76**(3): 935-941.

Romagnoli, A., M. P. Etna, E. Giacomini, M. Pardini, M. E. Remoli, M. Corazzari, L. Falasca, D. Goletti, V. Gafa, R. Simeone, G. Delogu, M. Piacentini, R. Brosch, G. M. Fimia

and E. M. Coccia (2012). "ESX-1 dependent impairment of autophagic flux by Mycobacterium tuberculosis in human dendritic cells." <u>Autophagy</u> **8**(9): 1357-1370.

Rook, G. A., J. Steele, L. Fraher, S. Barker, R. Karmali, J. O'Riordan and J. Stanford (1986). "Vitamin D3, gamma interferon, and control of proliferation of Mycobacterium tuberculosis by human monocytes." <u>Immunology</u> **57**(1): 159-163.

Sarker, P., S. Ahmed, S. Tiash, R. S. Rekha, R. Stromberg, J. Andersson, P. Bergman, G. H. Gudmundsson, B. Agerberth and R. Raqib (2011). "Phenylbutyrate counteracts Shigella mediated downregulation of cathelicidin in rabbit lung and intestinal epithelia: a potential therapeutic strategy." <u>PLoS One</u> **6**(6): e20637.

Saunders, B. M. and W. J. Britton (2007). "Life and death in the granuloma: immunopathology of tuberculosis." <u>Immunol Cell Biol</u> **85**(2): 103-111.

Scanga, C. A., V. P. Mohan, K. Tanaka, D. Alland, J. L. Flynn and J. Chan (2001). "The inducible nitric oxide synthase locus confers protection against aerogenic challenge of both clinical and laboratory strains of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in mice." Infect Immun **69**(12): 7711-7717.

Schauber, J., C. Svanholm, S. Termen, K. Iffland, T. Menzel, W. Scheppach, R. Melcher, B. Agerberth, H. Luhrs and G. H. Gudmundsson (2003). "Expression of the cathelicidin LL-37 is modulated by short chain fatty acids in colonocytes: relevance of signalling pathways." <u>Gut</u> **52**(5): 735-741.

Schon, T., D. Elias, F. Moges, E. Melese, T. Tessema, O. Stendahl, S. Britton and T. Sundqvist (2003). "Arginine as an adjuvant to chemotherapy improves clinical outcome in active tuberculosis." <u>Eur Respir J</u> **21**(3): 483-488.

Schon, T., G. Elmberger, Y. Negesse, R. H. Pando, T. Sundqvist and S. Britton (2004). "Local production of nitric oxide in patients with tuberculosis." <u>Int J Tuberc Lung Dis</u> **8**(9): 1134-1137.

Schon, T., J. Idh, A. Westman, D. Elias, E. Abate, E. Diro, F. Moges, A. Kassu, B. Ayele, T. Forslund, A. Getachew, S. Britton, O. Stendahl and T. Sundqvist (2011). "Effects of a food supplement rich in arginine in patients with smear positive pulmonary tuberculosis--a randomised trial." <u>Tuberculosis (Edinb)</u> **91**(5): 370-377.

Schon, T., P. Jureen, C. G. Giske, E. Chryssanthou, E. Sturegard, J. Werngren, G. Kahlmeter, S. E. Hoffner and K. A. Angeby (2009). "Evaluation of wild-type MIC distributions as a tool for determination of clinical breakpoints for Mycobacterium tuberculosis." <u>J Antimicrob Chemother</u> **64**(4): 786-793.

Sharma, P. K., P. K. Saha, A. Singh, S. K. Sharma, B. Ghosh and D. K. Mitra (2009). "FoxP3+ regulatory T cells suppress effector T-cell function at pathologic site in miliary tuberculosis." <u>Am J Respir Crit Care Med</u> **179**(11): 1061-1070.

Shintani, T. and D. J. Klionsky (2004). "Autophagy in health and disease: a double-edged sword." <u>Science</u> **306**(5698): 990-995.

Singh, S. B., A. S. Davis, G. A. Taylor and V. Deretic (2006). "Human IRGM induces autophagy to eliminate intracellular mycobacteria." <u>Science</u> **313**(5792): 1438-1441.

Somoskovi, A., L. M. Parsons and M. Salfinger (2001). "The molecular basis of resistance to isoniazid, rifampin, and pyrazinamide in Mycobacterium tuberculosis." <u>Respir Res</u> **2**(3): 164-168.

Sonawane, A., J. C. Santos, B. B. Mishra, P. Jena, C. Progida, O. E. Sorensen, R. Gallo, R. Appelberg and G. Griffiths (2011). "Cathelicidin is involved in the intracellular killing of mycobacteria in macrophages." <u>Cell Microbiol</u> **13**(10): 1601-1617.

Sorensen, O. E., P. Follin, A. H. Johnsen, J. Calafat, G. S. Tjabringa, P. S. Hiemstra and N. Borregaard (2001). "Human cathelicidin, hCAP-18, is processed to the antimicrobial peptide LL-37 by extracellular cleavage with proteinase 3." <u>Blood</u> **97**(12): 3951-3959.

Steinmann, J., S. Halldorsson, B. Agerberth and G. H. Gudmundsson (2009). "Phenylbutyrate induces antimicrobial peptide expression." <u>Antimicrob Agents Chemother</u> **53**(12): 5127-5133.

Stenger, S., D. A. Hanson, R. Teitelbaum, P. Dewan, K. R. Niazi, C. J. Froelich, T. Ganz, S. Thoma-Uszynski, A. Melian, C. Bogdan, S. A. Porcelli, B. R. Bloom, A. M. Krensky and R. L. Modlin (1998). "An antimicrobial activity of cytolytic T cells mediated by granulysin." <u>Science</u> **282**(5386): 121-125.

Stephan, A., M. Batinica, J. Steiger, P. Hartmann, F. Zaucke, W. Bloch and M. Fabri (2016). "LL37:DNA complexes provide antimicrobial activity against intracellular bacteria in human macrophages." <u>Immunology</u> **148**(4): 420-432.

Sun, Y. J., T. K. Lim, A. K. Ong, B. C. Ho, G. T. Seah and N. I. Paton (2006). "Tuberculosis associated with Mycobacterium tuberculosis Beijing and non-Beijing genotypes: a clinical and immunological comparison." <u>BMC Infect Dis</u> **6**: 105.

Suzuki, Y., S. Miwa, T. Akamatsu, M. Suzuki, M. Fujie, Y. Nakamura, N. Inui, H. Hayakawa, K. Chida and T. Suda (2013). "Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in the pathogenesis of tuberculous pleurisy." Int J Tuberc Lung Dis **17**(11): 1501-1506.

Tada, H., T. Shimizu, K. Matsushita and H. Takada (2017). "Porphyromonas gingivalisinduced IL-33 down-regulates hCAP-18/LL-37 production in human gingival epithelial cells." <u>Biomed Res</u> **38**(3): 167-173.

Tang, X., D. Basavarajappa, J. Z. Haeggstrom and M. Wan (2015). "P2X7 Receptor Regulates Internalization of Antimicrobial Peptide LL-37 by Human Macrophages That Promotes Intracellular Pathogen Clearance." J Immunol **195**(3): 1191-1201.

Tanner, R., K. Kakalacheva, E. Miller, A. A. Pathan, R. Chalk, C. R. Sander, T. Scriba, M. Tameris, T. Hawkridge, H. Mahomed, G. Hussey, W. Hanekom, A. Checkley, H. McShane and H. A. Fletcher (2014). "Serum indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activity is associated with reduced immunogenicity following vaccination with MVA85A." <u>BMC Infect Dis</u> 14: 660.

Tentori, L., G. Graziani, S. A. Porcelli, M. Sugita, M. B. Brenner, R. Madaio, E. Bonmassar, A. Giuliani and A. Aquino (1998). "Rifampin increases cytokine-induced expression of the CD1b molecule in human peripheral blood monocytes." <u>Antimicrob Agents Chemother</u> **42**(3): 550-554.

Thomas, A. C. and J. T. Mattila (2014). ""Of mice and men": arginine metabolism in macrophages." <u>Front Immunol</u> **5**: 479.

Toro, J. C., S. Hoffner, C. Linde, M. Andersson, J. Andersson and S. Grundstrom (2006). "Enhanced susceptibility of multidrug resistant strains of Mycobacterium tuberculosis to granulysin peptides correlates with a reduced fitness phenotype." <u>Microbes Infect</u> **8**(8): 1985-1993.

Tsai, P. W., C. Y. Yang, H. T. Chang and C. Y. Lan (2011). "Human antimicrobial peptide LL-37 inhibits adhesion of Candida albicans by interacting with yeast cell-wall carbohydrates." PLoS One 6(3): e17755.

Ugarte-Gil, C. A., P. Elkington, R. H. Gilman, J. Coronel, L. B. Tezera, A. Bernabe-Ortiz, E. Gotuzzo, J. S. Friedland and D. A. Moore (2013). "Induced sputum MMP-1, -3 & -8 concentrations during treatment of tuberculosis." <u>PLoS One</u> **8**(4): e61333.

Ulrichs, T. and S. H. Kaufmann (2006). "New insights into the function of granulomas in human tuberculosis." J Pathol **208**(2): 261-269.

Unissa, A. N., S. Subbian, L. E. Hanna and N. Selvakumar (2016). "Overview on mechanisms of isoniazid action and resistance in Mycobacterium tuberculosis." <u>Infect Genet</u> <u>Evol</u> **45**: 474-492.

van der Does, A. M., H. Beekhuizen, B. Ravensbergen, T. Vos, T. H. Ottenhoff, J. T. van Dissel, J. W. Drijfhout, P. S. Hiemstra and P. H. Nibbering (2010). "LL-37 directs macrophage differentiation toward macrophages with a proinflammatory signature." J Immunol **185**(3): 1442-1449.

van der Wel, N., D. Hava, D. Houben, D. Fluitsma, M. van Zon, J. Pierson, M. Brenner and P. J. Peters (2007). "M. tuberculosis and M. leprae translocate from the phagolysosome to the cytosol in myeloid cells." <u>Cell</u> **129**(7): 1287-1298.

Verreck, F. A., T. de Boer, D. M. Langenberg, M. A. Hoeve, M. Kramer, E. Vaisberg, R. Kastelein, A. Kolk, R. de Waal-Malefyt and T. H. Ottenhoff (2004). "Human IL-23-producing type 1 macrophages promote but IL-10-producing type 2 macrophages subvert immunity to (myco)bacteria." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **101**(13): 4560-4565.

Vogel, D. Y., E. J. Vereyken, J. E. Glim, P. D. Heijnen, M. Moeton, P. van der Valk, S. Amor, C. E. Teunissen, J. van Horssen and C. D. Dijkstra (2013). "Macrophages in inflammatory multiple sclerosis lesions have an intermediate activation status." <u>J</u> <u>Neuroinflammation</u> **10**: 35.

Volkman, H. E., T. C. Pozos, J. Zheng, J. M. Davis, J. F. Rawls and L. Ramakrishnan (2010). "Tuberculous granuloma induction via interaction of a bacterial secreted protein with host epithelium." <u>Science</u> **327**(5964): 466-469.

Waitt, C. J., P. Banda, S. Glennie, B. Kampmann, S. B. Squire, M. Pirmohamed and R. S. Heyderman (2015). "Monocyte unresponsiveness and impaired IL1beta, TNFalpha and IL7 production are associated with a poor outcome in Malawian adults with pulmonary tuberculosis." <u>BMC Infect Dis</u> **15**: 513.

Wan, M., A. M. van der Does, X. Tang, L. Lindbom, B. Agerberth and J. Z. Haeggstrom (2014). "Antimicrobial peptide LL-37 promotes bacterial phagocytosis by human macrophages." J Leukoc Biol **95**(6): 971-981.

Wang, C. H., C. Y. Liu, H. C. Lin, C. T. Yu, K. F. Chung and H. P. Kuo (1998). "Increased exhaled nitric oxide in active pulmonary tuberculosis due to inducible NO synthase upregulation in alveolar macrophages." <u>Eur Respir J</u> **11**(4): 809-815.

Wang, M., W. Kong, B. He, Z. Li, H. Song, P. Shi and J. Wang (2018). "Vitamin D and the promoter methylation of its metabolic pathway genes in association with the risk and prognosis of tuberculosis." <u>Clin Epigenetics</u> **10**(1): 118.

Wang, T. T., F. P. Nestel, V. Bourdeau, Y. Nagai, Q. Wang, J. Liao, L. Tavera-Mendoza, R. Lin, J. W. Hanrahan, S. Mader and J. H. White (2004). "Cutting edge: 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 is a direct inducer of antimicrobial peptide gene expression." J Immunol **173**(5): 2909-2912.

Weiss, G. and U. E. Schaible (2015). "Macrophage defense mechanisms against intracellular bacteria." <u>Immunol Rev</u> **264**(1): 182-203.

Wejse, C., V. F. Gomes, P. Rabna, P. Gustafson, P. Aaby, I. M. Lisse, P. L. Andersen, H. Glerup and M. Sodemann (2009). "Vitamin D as supplementary treatment for tuberculosis: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial." <u>Am J Respir Crit Care Med</u> **179**(9): 843-850.

WHO, Global tuberculosis report 2018.

Wilkinson, R. J., M. Llewelyn, Z. Toossi, P. Patel, G. Pasvol, A. Lalvani, D. Wright, M. Latif and R. N. Davidson (2000). "Influence of vitamin D deficiency and vitamin D receptor polymorphisms on tuberculosis among Gujarati Asians in west London: a case-control study." Lancet **355**(9204): 618-621.

Wu, S., Y. Wang, M. Zhang, S. S. Shrestha, M. Wang and J. Q. He (2018). "Genetic Polymorphisms of IL1B, IL6, and TNFalpha in a Chinese Han Population with Pulmonary Tuberculosis." <u>Biomed Res Int</u> **2018**: 3010898.

Xu, Y., L. Wang, M. D. Zimmerman, K. Y. Chen, L. Huang, D. J. Fu, F. Kaya, N. Rakhilin, E. V. Nazarova, P. Bu, V. Dartois, D. G. Russell and X. Shen (2018). "Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors enhance the efficacy of frontline drugs against Mycobacterium tuberculosis." <u>PLoS Pathog</u> 14(4): e1006974.

Yuk, J. M., D. M. Shin, H. M. Lee, C. S. Yang, H. S. Jin, K. K. Kim, Z. W. Lee, S. H. Lee, J. M. Kim and E. K. Jo (2009). "Vitamin D3 induces autophagy in human monocytes/macrophages via cathelicidin." <u>Cell Host Microbe</u> **6**(3): 231-243.

Zhao, Z., Z. L. Mu, X. W. Liu, X. J. Liu, J. Jia, L. Cai and J. Z. Zhang (2016). "Expressions of Antimicrobial Peptides LL-37, Human Beta Defensin-2 and -3 in the Lesions of Cutaneous Tuberculosis and Tuberculids." <u>Chin Med J (Engl)</u> **129**(6): 696-701.

Zhu, X. W., N. M. Price, R. H. Gilman, S. Recarvarren and J. S. Friedland (2007). "Multinucleate giant cells release functionally unopposed matrix metalloproteinase-9 in vitro and in vivo." J Infect Dis **196**(7): 1076-1079.